PROSTAGLANDIN THERAPY FOR POST - PARTUM CLINICAL ENDOMETRITIS

By

T. C. JACOB

THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree

Master of Peterinary Science

Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Kerala Agricultural University

Department of Animal Reproduction COLLEGE OF VETERINARY AND ANIMAL SCIENCES Mannuthy - Thrissur

1993

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this thesis entitled PROSTAGLANDIN THERAPY FOR POST-PARTUM CLINICAL ENDOMETRITIS is a bonafide record of research work done by me during the course of research and that the thesis has not previously formed the basis for the award to me of any degree, diploma, associateship or other similar title, of any ther university or society.

Mannuthy, (G.9.93.

JAC

CERTIFICATE

I hereby declare that this thesis entitled PROSTAGLANDIN THERAPY FOR POST-PARTUM NICAL ENDOMETRITIS is a record of research work d independently by Dr. T.C. JACOB under my guidance and rvision and that it has not previously formed the basis for the award of any degree, fellowship, or associateship to him.

Mannuthy,

Dr. E. Madhavan, Chairman, Advisory Board, Professor, Dept. of Animal Reproduction College of Veterinary & Animal Sciences, Mannuthy.

We, the undersigned members of the Advisory Committee of Dr. T.C. JACOB, a candidate for the degree of Master of Veterinary Science in Animal Reproduction, agree that the thesis entitled PROSTAGLANDIN THERAPY FOR POST-PARTUM CLINICAL ENDOMETRITIS may be submitted by Dr. T.C. JACOB in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree.

Dr. E. Madhavan Professor, Department of Animal Reproduction (Chairman, Advisory Committee)

Dr. C.P. Neelakanta Iyer, Professor & Head, Department of Animal Reproduction

12 Prablake

Dr. K. Prabhakaran Nair, 8/9/5, Professor, Department of Animal Reproduction.

Dr. P.C. James Professor, Department of Microbiology

External Examiner 25.1 9(

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

With profound gratitude, I wish to place on record my indebtedness to Dr. E. Madhavan, Professor, Department of Animal Reproduction, College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Mannuthy and Chairman of the Advisory Committee for his incessant help, inspiring guidance and sustained encouragement through out the tenure of the study.

I am greatly indebted to Dr. C.P. Neelakanta Iyer, Professor and Head, Department of Animal Reproduction, Mannuthy and a member of the advisory committee for his valuable help and guidance throughout the period.

I wish to place on record my sincere gratitude to Dr.K.Prabhakaran Nair, Professor, Department of Animal Reproduction and Dr. P.C. James, Professor, Department of Microbiology, Members of the Advisory committee for their valuable help and guidance.

My sincere thanks are due to Dr. V. Sudarsanan, Professor, Dr. E. Mathai, Professor, Dr. S.P. Suresan Nair, Associate Professor, Dr. K.V. Athman, Associate Professor, Dr. T. Sreekumaran, Associate Professor, Dr. K.N. Aravind Ghosh, Associate Professor and Dr. Metilda Joseph, Junior Assistant Professor and the staff of the Department of Animal Reproduction.

v

I wish to express my thanks to the Dean, Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences for providing facilities for the study.

I am highly grateful to Dr. R. Madhusoodanan Pillai, Associate Professor, Department of Microbiology for his help rendered during the various stages of the study.

I express my gratitude to Dr. K.C. George, Professor and Head, Department of Statistics and the staff.

I further wish to place on record my sincere thanks to:

Dr. P.A. Devassia, Professor, University Livestock Farm, Mannuthy for his help during the course of work,

Dr. Jose James, Dr. C.P. Gopakumar, Dr. Shaji Antony for their affection and support to me,

Dr. Ani, S. Das, Dr. A.M. Vahida, Dr. Viju George, Dr. E.D. Benjamin, Dr. Joy George, Dr. G. Ajithkumar, Dr.M.P.Unnikrishnan, Dr. S.M. Balasubramaniam, Post graduate students, Department of Animal Reproduction for their help,

Dr. C.K. Subash, Dr. P.V. Raju, Dr. Vinodkumar, Dr. M.Anilkumar, Dr. Reji Varghese, Dr. Raj Menon, Dr. K.P.Mini, Dr. Mini Bharathan, Dr. Sheela Yohannan, Dr. Syam, K. Venugopal, Dr. John Martin and other post graduate students for their remarkable co-operation and encouragement extended to me during this tenure and to Dr. A.G. Carpe, Ph.D. scholar for his moral support and advice.

Grateful acknowledgement is made to the Managing Director, Kerala Livestock Development Board, Thiruvananthapuram for granting deputation for the period of study.

wish to express my profound sense of gratitude I to Dr.Abraham Mathew, Manager (Training) Indo-Swiss, Mattupetti lor. his abiding interest, meticulous guidance and constructive criticism rendered through out the work.

Ι sincerely acknowledge the invaluable help and encouragement rendered by the officers and staff of Kerala Livestock Development Board during the various stages of the study.

My thanks are also due to Thushara Studio, Mannuthy for photographs and to M/s Blaise Computer Consultancy, Mannuthy for their neat and timely execution of the work.

Though not last, I cherish the spirit of understanding and encouragement rendered by my wife during this tenure.

T.C. JACOB

CONTENTS

Chapt No.		Title	Page No.
I.	INTRODU	CTION	1-3
II.	REVIEW	OF LITERATURE	4-33
	2.1.	Incidence of endometritis	4
	2.2.	Impact of endometritis on fertility	5
	2.3.	Etiology	6
	2.4.	Aseptic collection of uterine discharge	e 9
	2.5.	Antibiogram of bacterial isolates	10
	2.6.	Therapy for endometritis	12
	2.6.1.	Antibiotics and sulphonamides	1.2
	2.6.2.	Non antibiotic alternatives	18
	2.7.	Prostaglandins	20
	2.7.1.	Mechanism of luteolysis	21
	2.7.2.	Management of oestrous cycle with PGF ₂ alpha	22
	2.7.3.	Fertility in induced oestrus	25
,	2.7.4.	Role of PGF ₂ alpha in the management of reproductive health	26
	2.7.5.	Prostaglandin therapy for endometritis	29
III.	MATERIALS AND METHODS		
	3.1.	Time taken from the administration of PGF ₂ alpha to the onset of oestrus in Group III and IV	35

	3.2.	Duration of oestrus	36
	3.3.	Intensity of oestrus	36
	3.4.	Physical changes of reproductive tract during oestrus	36
	3.5.	Nature of oestrual mucus	36
	3.6.	Isolation and identification of bacterial organisms	38
	3.7.	Antibiotic sensitivity test and antibiotic treatments	39
	3.7.1.	Preparation of culture medium	39
	3.7.2.	Inoculation of plates	40
	3.7.3.	Application of antibiotic discs	40
	3.7.4.	Incubation	41
	3.7.5.	Reading of zones of inhibition	41
	3.7.6.	Artificial insemination	41
	3.7.7.	Antibiotic treatments	42
	3.8.	Number of inseminations per conception	43
	3.9.	Conception rate	43
IV.	RESULTS		44-58
	4.1.	Time taken for the induction of oestrus	44
	4.2.	Duration of oestrus	44
	4.3.	Intensity of oestrus	45
	4.4.	Physical changes of reproductive tract	45
	1		

	4.5.	Nature of oestrual discharge	47
	4.6.	Isolation, identification and antibiogram of bacterial organisms	48
	4.7.	Number of inseminations per conception	49
	4.8.	Conception rate	50
v.	DISCUSS	CON	59-70
	5.1.	Time taken for the induction of oestrus	60
	5.2.	Duration of oestrus	61
	5.3.	Intensity of oestrus	63
	5.4.	Physical changes in reproductive tract	63
	5.5.	Nature of oestrual discharge	64
	5.6.	Isolation, identification and antibiogram of bacterial organisms	65
	5.7.	Number of inseminations per conception	68
	5.8.	Conception rate	69
VI.	SUMMARY		71-75
VII.	REFERENCES		76-102
VIII.	ABSTRAC	2	

LIST OF TABLES

Table No.	Title	Page No.
1.	Time taken for induction of oestrus	51
2.	Duration of oestrus in experimental animals.	51
3.	Intensity of oestrus in Group I and II	52
4.	Intensity of oestrus in Group III and IV	52
5.	Physical changes of the reproductive tract during natural oestrus (Group I and II)	53
6.	Physical changes of the reproductive tract during induced oestrus (Group III and IV)	53
7.	Nature of discharge in Group I and II	54
8.	Nature of Discharge in Group III and IV	55
€.	Identification of organisms	56
10.	Bacterial isolates and their sensitivity pattern	57
11.	Response to sensitivity tests	58
12.	Number of inseminations required per conception and conception rate	58



Introduction

INTRODUCTION

Bovine endometritis is the most common of all the periparturient diseases of dairy cattle with greatest impact fertility. Though, precise information on the magnitude on of this condition causing economic loss is scanty, there are reasons to believe that majority of cows culled and disposed infertility, are due to for reasons of off, uterine infections. There is consensus of opinion that endometritis does have a detrimental effect on subsequent fertility by extending the calving to conception interval and increasing the number of insemination per pregnancy and also resulting in sterility due to irrepairable changes of genital tract. Calving to conception interval has been reported to increase enormously with an increase in services per conception. Alarming figures of culling rate has also been reported from several countries due to uterine infection, especially, endometritis. In India authentic figures on the incidence of endometritis are not available, although reports indicate good percentage of cows are being culled that a and disposed off due to endometritis. In Kerala too, the prevalence of endometritis are on the increase even with modern husbandry practices.

Considering this grave situation on dairy economy, several attempts have been made in the recent past to

control this paradoxical situation. Intrauterine infusion of bewildering array of compounds had been the main stay of treatment of bovine endometritis for decades. Recent reports show that uterus is an anaerobic environment, making the aminoglycoside group of antibiotics ineffective because they require oxygen for their activity. During the post partum period many organisms in the uterus are capable of producing enzymes, that inactivate or degrade 'antibiotics. In addition, the presence of pus or organic debris in the uterine fluid could potentially inhibit drugs such as sulphonamides, aminoglycosides and nitrofurazone. More over, all intra uterine treatments result in some absorption of the drug, resulting in adulteration of milk with various depending upon the drug, vehicle and dosage used. degree are also no official guidelines for minimum There withholding time after intrauterine therapy. Systemic administration although, has potential advantages over intrauterine therapy, commercially available antibiotics that could be expected to be effective for uterine infection Further, the efficacy are not labelled properly. of systemic antibiotic therapy has not been thoroughly Uterine secretions are also reported to demonstrated. severely inhibit the antibacterial activity of antibiotics in aerobic and anaerobic conditions.

Increased recognition of the disappointing efficacy and disadvantages of antibiotics and other antibacterial agents, focussed attention on alternative therapy for has endometritis. Prostaglandins (PGF, alpha) and its structural analogues have been tried in the recent past for treatment of clinical and subclinical endometritis. The beneficial effect of prostaglandin is reported to be due to (1) induction of luteolysis if a functional corpus luteum is present (ii) a direct uterotonic effect (iii) stimulation of phagocytosis by uterine leucocytes (iv) ripening of cervix (v) stimulation of uterine defence mechanism, anđ consequent to a fall in circulating progesterone and a rise in oestrogen. Based on these, several trials were carried out to study the effectiveness of prostaglandins in the treatment of clinical endometritis and encouraging results were reported. In terms of fertility, the therapeutic use of PGF, alpha and its analogue appeared to show results better than antibacterial and antibiotic therapy. Further, it requires no milk withdrawal. The present work was, therefore, undertaken with the object of studying the effectiveness of administration of PGF, alpha in cross-bred cattle with the aim of evolving an effective non antibiotic therapy for clinical endometritis.

Review of Literature

2.1. Incidence

Bovine endometritis has been recognised as a global problem and the worldwide figures for its prevalence are varied. Hardenbrook (1958) reported that 80 per cent of breeding failures in bovine were due to endometritis. In southern Israel, on a study of 2745 cows during the period from 1965-'73, endometritis was reported to an extent of 16 per cent; whereas in Northern Israel the incidence was reported to be 14 per cent during the period from 1977-'79 (Francos, 1979). In USA the incidence was reported to be 6.25 per cent in Jersey and 10.3 per cent among Holstein cows (Fonseca et al., 1983). Mazumdar et al. (1985) found that, among 835 cows, 200 animals showed presence of uterine infections as evidenced by gross lesions of metritis. Tn Brazil, Ferreira and SA (1987) reported, uterine infections to an extent of 21.1 per cent. Zezula-SzPysa et al. (1988) indicated an incidence of 39.1 per cent uterine infections in bovines. Maneta et al. (1990) reported that, out of 142 cows genitalia, 72 (50.7 per cent) had chronic inflammation of uterus and also found that catarrhal form being the most common. Reports on the incidence of endometritis in Indian cattle are scanty. However, Namboodiripad et al. (1976) an incidence of 63.14 per cent of reported genital infections. Rao and Kottaya (1976), on the other hand, found

incidence of 30.77 per cent of endometritis among an infertile cows in Andhra Pradesh. Nair and Raja (1977), on a. study of 2250 genitalia of cow (150 gravid), found that 17 had inflammatory lesions of the uterus. This included necrotic metritis (1) chronic non suppurative metritis (1), acute suppurative endometritis (2), acute non suppurative endometritis (6), chronic non-suppurative endometritis (2), perimetritis (2) and hydrometra (3) and remarked that the extent of uterine pathology varied in their manifestation. In Karnataka, Rao et al. (1983) found an incidence of 32.86 per cent of endometritis. In Kerala, Varadarajan (1985) observed an incidence of 9.66 per cent among cross-bred cows, but Iver et al. (1992) found the incidence as 20 per cent. However, Vahida (1992) noted this to the extent of 7.95 per cent only.

2.2. Impact of endometritis on fertility

Impact of endometritis on fertility, both short term and long term has been well documented. With regard to short term influence, Studer and Morrow (1978) found a significant correlation between the state of uterus and calving conception interval. Extension of calving to conception interval to the extent of 12 days (Tennant and Peddicord, 1968), 20 days (Erb et al., 1981), 10 days

(Bretzlaff et al., 1982) has been reported. An increase in the services per conception has been reported from 1.67 and 2.16 to 2.0 and 2.42 respectively by Tennant and Peddicord (1968) and Bretzlaff et al. (1982). Roberts (1971) pointed out that delay in conception of a single cow leads to a loss of 30 dollar per month in America. Dohoo and Martin (1984) reported economic losses due to uterine infections to the extent of 2 to 5 per cent in milk yield/kg/day. In terms of currency the loss on account of infertility due to endometritis has been enormous. However, precise information on the magnitude of economic loss due to endometritis in India is scanty.

2.3. Etiology

Considerable interest has been shown in the past on the etiological factors of endometritis. According to Hinze (1959), non specific opportunist pathogens are the most important causes of endometritis and opined that these organisms might have reached the uterus from vagina at oestrus or at parturition, although, haematogenous metastatic infection is possible in some circumstances. He further remarked that, most of these organisms would have been normal inhabitants in the surroundings of dairy herd. Elliot et <u>al</u>: (1968) identified 33 different species of bacteria, which fluctuated as a result of spontaneous contamination, clearance and recontamination during the first seven weeks post-partum. Hartigan et al. (1974) found a transient uterine infection by Corynebacterium pyogenes during the puerperal period resulting in delayed involution of uterus in cows. Benjamin et al. (1982) isolated Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli, Corynebacteria anđ Achromobacter, from cervical mucus of infertile cows anđ buffaloes. Eduvie et al. (1984) however, reported the uterine contamination by bacteria did not puerperal interfere with normal process of involution. It was further reported that the uterine contamination usually occurred between days 10 and 21 and declined thereafter, which has coincided with sloughing of caruncular tissue with increased discharge of lochia. Martinez and Thibier (1984) remarked that the epidemiological pattern of endometritis need not be generalised and reported no definite influence of calving milk yield and parity on the incidence of seasons, endometritis. However, Bartlett et al. (1986) found a definite association of age and season with endometritis. Navaryo (1986), on bacteriological examination of uterine exudate of 1520 Holstein cows, having placental retention and endometritis, isolated C. pyogenes, streptococcus viridans, Streptococcus pyogenes and E. coli, and observed that the incidence of endometritis was more during the rainy season when the frequency of placental retention was also

found to be more. David and Bonnier (1987) reported that the commonest bacteria with endometritis in France were streptococci and Actinomyces (corynebacterium) Pyogenes. Singh et al. (1989) and Sirohi et al. (1989) described the isolates from cervical mucus of cows as S. aureus, Haemolytic streptococci, E. coli, pseudomonas, Enterobacter, citrobacter and coccobacillary rods. According to Khan et al. (1990) the main bacteria identified from uterine discharge were <u>S</u>. <u>pyogenes</u>, <u>S</u>. <u>aureus</u>, <u>Corynebacterium</u> bovis, E. coli, and Bacillus megaterium. Biolatti et al. (1991) and Kudryavtsev et al. (1991) also isolated similar bacteria from the uterine samples of infertile cows. Vahida (1992), on a clinical study of endometritis, found coagulase negative staphylococcal species, S. aureus, corynebacterium spp., bacillus spp. and pseudomonas spp. as the common organisms in the uterine discharge.

Viral agents have also been isolated from the uterine discharges. A herpes virus was isolated in bovine foetal kidney cell culture from the uterine discharge of 13 cows with chronic metritis. Direct immunofluorescence tests showed that LVR 140 was antigenically related to Movar 33/63 and the herpes virus isolated from a bull with orchitis (Wellemans <u>et al</u>., 1983). Opdenbosch <u>et al</u>. (1984) also isolated a herpes virus (strain LVR 140) from cases of

puerperal endometritis. It was suggested that the viral agent had an immuno suppressive effect which predisposed the animals to other infections. Rose (1987), on a study of endometritis in Britany, found antibodies to Bovine herpes virus 1 in 32 per cent of cases tested, Q fever antibodies in 21 per cent of 127 cows screened; and antibodies to chlamydia in one case. IBR virus was also isolated by Misra and Mishra (1987) in cows which failed to conceive.

Association of mycotic organisms and endometritis was reported by Kremlev and Banakova (1979). They isolated Candida, Actinomycetes and Mucoraceous fungi in 18 of 22 cases of uterine discharges. It was also found that Iodinal (Iodine and Potassium Iodide in Polyvinyl alcohol) inhibited growth of cultures of <u>Candida albicans</u>, <u>Proactinomyces</u> <u>lignieresi</u>, <u>Absidia ramosa</u>, <u>Mucor pusillus</u> and <u>Lichtheimia</u> <u>corymbifera</u> in a concentration of 125 mic g/ml and it was successfully used to treat acute mycotic endometritis.

2.4. Aseptic collection of uterine discharge

For effective treatment of endometritis it is necessary to conduct bacterial sensitivity tests of the uterine exudate and for this a special equipment has been designed by Minocha <u>et al</u>. (1964). It consisted of four telescoping metal tubes, the outer one served as the vaginal speculum, the second tube for insertion upto the middle of the cervix and the two inner units constituted the sampler. Sterile gelatin capsules protected the tip of the tubes from Which was detained in the uterus and contamination. subsequently absorbed. The collection of samples for bacteriological examination using the instrument was found satisfactory and there was no incidence of transfer of infection from the vagina to the uterus. Ghosh et al. (1980) designed uterine biopsy equipment which was a partial modification of the model by Minocha et al. (1964). It consisted of four telescoping units. The outer tube served a vaginal speculum. The second tube during introduction as was inserted to the middle of the cervix. The third tube had a window 1 cm short of its tip at the cranial end and the fourth tube acted as a cutter. The tip of the fourth unit was made sharp by a saw, so that the endometrium could be cut easily. Vahida (1992) fabricated a new instrument which was a modification of the design proposed by Minocha et al. (1964).

2.5. Antibiogram of Bacterial Isolates

Koleff <u>et al</u>. (1973) by conducting sensitivity test of bacterial flora of uterine contents of 100 cows, having endometritis found that the most effective antibiotic was ampicillin, followed by chloramphenicol and tetracycline. According to them the selection of a drug for treatment of endometritis, based on sensitivity test, resulted shorter duration of treatment and rapid recovery. Sinha et al. (1977) reported that chloramphenicol was the most effective remedy to inhibit the bacterial growth from uterine exudate. Murty and Rao (1979), however, reported that the genital microflora of repeat breeders were highly resistant to most of the antimicrobial agents. Kharade and Kulharni (1983) found that most of the uterine isolates were sensitive to gentamicin and kanamycin. Venkateswarlu et al. (1983a) sensitivity of the bacterial isolates observed from infertile cows, which had second degree endometritis, as 26.1 per cent, 24.4 per cent and 17.2 per cent respectively to chloramphenicol, gentamicin and Furacin. On a study of uterine discharge from 170 cross-bred cows and heifers having clinical evidence of endometritis and based on antibiogram of isolates, Varadarajan et al. (1985) observed that gentamicin was the most effective drug for treatment of clinical endometritis. Sudhaker et al. (1986) were also of opinion that most of the bacterial isolates were the sensitive to gentamicin. Malik et al. (1987) by studying the antibiotic sensitivity of 359 mucus samples from genital tract of infertile cows, found the highest sensitivity for gentamicin followed by streptomycin, kanamycin and chloramphenicol. Similar observations were also made by

ΤT

Sirohi <u>et al</u>. (1989) and Sharda <u>et al</u>. (1991), who further reported that more than 40 per cent of isolates showed multiple resistance to four or more drugs. Venkateswaran and Rajeswar (1991), while screening 252 uterine swabs and subjecting to antibiotic sensitivity test, noticed that chloramphenicol was the most effective drug of choice followed by streptomycin. Iyer <u>et al</u>. (1992), found that majority of cows were resistant to common antibiotics, although gentamicin and kanamycin were more effective, compared to other antibiotics. Vahida (1992) showed that 61.41 per cent of the isolates were sensitive to gentamicin, 59.05 per cent to chloramphenicol, 46.45 per cent to furazolidone and 23.62 per cent to co-trimoxazole.

2.6. Therapy for endometritis

2.6.1. Antibiotics and Sulphonamides

The use of various antibiotics for the treatment of endometritis have given variable results. The route of administration of these drugs and the time of administration have also been varied. Roberts (1956) remarked that antibacterial treatment at the time of oestrus was more effective than the luteal phase. According to Seguin <u>et al</u>. (1974), absorption and clearance of the systemically administered drugs is more rapid than from intrauterine

administration and opined that repeated doses two to three times a day may be required to maintain therapeutic levels of antibiotics. According to Oxender and Seguin (1976) the drugs infused into uterus would cause prolongation of the oestrous cycle or shortening depending up on the time of infusion. They recommended intrauterine treatment during oestrus and 24 to 48 hours after oestrus. Gustafsson (1984) observed apparent failures of intrauterine therapy in getting rid of uterine infection, due to altered leucocyte remarked that all intrauterine function, and druqs interfered with phagocytosis for several days. Ziv et al. (1983) and Jayappa and Loken (1983) recommended, systemic administration of antibiotics, to this overcome disadvantage. Paisley et al. (1986) observed that by intrauterine therapy there was risk of introducing new infection into uterus, injuring endometrium and also depressing uterine phagocytic activity. Vahida (1992),however, reported no significant difference between systemic and intrauterine treatment.

i. Ampicillin and Penicillin

Koleff <u>et al</u>. (1983) found that ampicillin was the most effective antibiotic for the treatment of endometritis. Singh <u>et al</u>. (1985) obtained a significant rise in conception rate by treating subclinical genital infections with ampicillin 500 mg intrauterine, one hour before insemination. According to Gustafsson (1984), a systemic dose of 20,000 to 25,000 IU of sodium penicillin G per kg would result in genital tract tissue and lumen concentration in cow, which was sufficient to combat most pathogens, sensitive to penicillin, but the duration of desirable concentration was relatively short. He further opined that intrauterine infusion of natural penicillin during mid cycle would gain satisfactory concentration in lumen upto 48 hours. However, Haaland et al. (1984) found residues of penicillin upto 84 hours after intrauterine treatment, and therefore recommended that milk should be held until it was found negative for antibiotics. Similar observations were also made by Whitacre (1992), who opined that intra uterine therapy with penicillin should not be done in early postpartum period (before day 30), because mixed bacterial may render penicillin ineffective due infections to penicillinase production, by non pathogenic bacteria.

ii. Chloramphenicol

Based on antibiogram of isolates Savov and Dimitrov (1973) recommended chloramphenicol as the drug of choice for the treatment of endometritis. Sinha <u>et al</u>. (1977) could inhibit 89.30 per cent isolates using chloramphenicol. According to Ziv (1980), chloramphenicol was the most effective available antibiotic for the treatment of uterine infections. Vahida (1992) could obtain better conception rates with chloramphenicol using it both intramuscular (71.73 per cent) and intrauterine (75.0 per cent) route.

iii. Oxytetracycline

Several workers have used oxytetracycline for treatment of endometritis both systemic and intrauterine. However, Masera et al. (1980) observed that intrauterine route did not result in detectable concentrations in genital tissue, apart from endometrium, 24 hours after administration and opined that, although this could be of advantage to disinfect the endometrium, many infections did not restrict to uterine cavity alone. Bretzlaff et al. (1983) recommended systemic dose of oxytetracycline as ll mg/kg twice daily, which would maintain a concentration of 5 mic. g/g of genital tissues. This was recommended as the minimum inhibitory concentration level, for several uterine pathogens during the course of treatment. On the other Jayappa and Loken (1983) recommended 0.5 to 5g as hand, intrauterine dose and warned of the possible adverse influence on the uterine defence mechanism, because of the high concentration of the drug and injury caused by the repeated mechanical manipulations. Moore et al. (1984) even recommended that perinatal treatment with oxytetracycline at a dose of 20 mg/kg would reduce the incidence or mean Haaland <u>et al</u>. (1984), however, pointed out the defect intrauterine administration, because of the residues ! found upto 84 hours after treatment and recommended milk should be withheld until it is tested free antibiotics. Whitacre (1992), was also of the opinion if intrauterine therapy was instituted oxytetracycline be the drug of choice especially in early post-j period.

iv. Gentamicin

Sande and Mandell (1980) observed that because of anaerobic environment in the post intum bovine uterus, aminoglycoside group of antibilics like gentam. kanamycin, streptomycin and neomyciture ineffective bec they require oxygen for their activity Ziv (1980) repo a good <u>in vitro</u> effect against uter. pathogens by us gentamicin with minimum inhibitory contration of 2-5 m g/ml. According to Guedawy <u>et al.</u> (if 4 mg of gentami per kg given intramuscular gave adeq blood and uter: concentration for 36 hours and for thil mg would be necessary. Varadarajan single insemination in gentamicin ar stilboesterol treated animals. Sudhaker <u>et al</u>. (1986) isolated bacterial organisms which were highly or moderately sensitive to gentamicin. A good conception rate was also reported in animals treated with gentamicin. Dholakia <u>et al</u>. (1987) also opined that gentamicin was the most effective drug for treatment of uterine infection. Vahida (1992) also reported the efficacy of gentamicin and remarked that systemic administration was found to be more effective than intrauterine administration.

v. Nitrofurazone

Venkateswarlu <u>et al</u>. (1983 b) by comparing treatment of endometritis with furacin and other antibiotics reported highest percentage of conception inimals treated with Furacin. Narasimhan (1987) reported + nitrofurazone was very effective against puerperal metics. Vahida (1992) reported a conception rate of 64.7 per by intra uterine administration of nitrofurazone in ani affected with

vi. Sulphonamides

According to Bierschwal <u>et al</u>. (1955) concentration of sulphonamides infused i^{erapeutic} remained for more than 12 hours, with peak ^{uterus} within 2 hours. The therapeutic value of sulp^{laching} 17

.S

also reported by Ziv (1980) and Gustafsson and Ott (1981) and observed that most of the uterine pathogens appeared to be sensitive to sulphonamides. On the contrary, Ball <u>et al</u>. (1984) reported that the purulent material and debris in the post-partum uterus might antagonise the actions of sulphonamides. As an alternative, Gustafsson (1984) suggested systemic treatment with sulphonamides or in combination with trimethoprim. Chaudhary <u>et al</u>. (1987) indicated that the sulpha trimethoprim combination when used, should be repeated at 12 hours intervals, irrespective of dose, if it is given intrauterine. Vahida (1992), however, reported a comparatively poor result by the administration of co-trimoxazole.

2.6.2. Non antibiotic alternatives

Increased awareness of the risk of bacterial resistance and tissue residues and necessitating withholding meat and milk has resulted in evolving nor. antibiotic alternatives for treatment of uterine infections. Non antibiotic preparations which are capable of stimulating uterine contractibility (like prostaglandins, oxytocin and oestrogens) and or increase the uterine defence mechanisms (oestrogens, Gonadotrophin releasing hormone) have been widely used (Frank <u>et al</u>., 1983; Gustafsson, 1984; Kuz'mich <u>et al</u>., 1987).

1

i. Oxytocin

Gustafsson (1984) indicated that oxytocin has a uterotonic effect especially in post-partum period, and remarked that in mild to moderate cases of acute postpartum metritis, this could be used as the only treatment, especially if oestrogens have been used to sensitise the uterus.

ii. Ergonovine

Gustafsson (1984) also recommended use of ergonovine at a dose of 2-5 mg intramuscular, to treat uterine atony which is responsible for post-partum uterine infections.

iii. Oestrogens

The beneficial effect of oestrogens to improve uterine tonicity has been well established. Oestrogen has been used as the only treatment for mild to moderate post-partum uterine infections, with or without retention of placenta, at a dose of 3-10 mg of oestradiol benzoate, oestradiolvalerate or oestradiol cypionate intramuscularly.

iv. Disinfectants

Frank <u>et al</u>. (1983) recommended use of various disinfectants for treatment of post-partum infections as an

alternative to antibiotics. The possibility of suppression of uterine defence mechanisms has, however to be taken careof.

v. Magnetic field

Kuz'mich <u>et al</u>. (1987) reported the effectiveness of magnetic field impulses against uterine sub involution and endometritis syndrome in cows.

2.7. Prostaglandins (PGF₂ alpha)

Prostaglandins, a derivative of prostanoic acid is a closely related group of biologically active unsaturated fatty acid. The most dramatic action of PGF_2 alpha is on reproductive system, because of its ability for the luteolysis which may or may not be accompanied by a morphological degeneration of corpus luteum. This was first demonstrated in Rat (pharris and Wyngarden, 1969) and in Guinea pig (Blatchley and Donovan, 1969). This phenomenon prompted a flury of activity among reproductive scientists who were intrigued by the elusive nature of mechanism for the control of lysis of corpus luteum. The luteolytic effect PGF, alpha was later confirmed by several scientists of (Gutknecht et al. 1971; Labhsetwar, 1971; Bartke et al., 1972; Keyes and Bullock, 1974) in lab animals. Seguin et al.

(1974) and Lovie, et al. (1975) demonstrated that the agent responsible for luteal regression in cattle, at the end of oestrous cycle was prostaglandin. It was also postulated that a counter current transfer mechanism existed in the transfer of PGF_2 alpha from the utero ovarian vein to the utero-ovarian artery.

2.7.1. Mechanism of luteolysis

Mechanism of luteolysis brought about by PGF2 alpha in cattle has been widely reviewed. Pharris and Wyngarden (1969) reported that the luteolytic activity was due to the constriction of ovarian vessels causing ischaemia anđ starvation, leading to death of luteal cells. Behrman et al. (1971) postulated that rather than vascular and central effect, intracellular changes, induced by a direct action of PGF, alpha, might also involve in luteolysis. Batta et al. (1974) and Sato et al. (1974) found a stimulatory effect of PGF₂ alpha on gonadotrophic secretion which could account luteolysis, induced by PGF₂ alpha. According for to Henderson and McNatty (1975), PGF₂ alpha would interfere with the coupling of adenyl cyclase and luteinising hormone, the latter being the luteotrophic substance responsible for maintaining the corpus luteum. Wiltbank and Niswender (1992), however, postulated that for luteolytic actions

د ۲

(i) the PGF₂ alpha should bind a specific receptor present in the plasma membrane of the large luteal cells; (ii) activate phospho inositide specific phospholipase 'c' resulting in the production of inositol triphosphate (IP3) and Diacyl glycerol; (iii) increased free intracellular calcium concentration either due to increased concentration IP3 or receptor activated calcium channel; activate of protein kinase 'c', due to increase in concentration of free calcium and diacyl glycerol; (iv) decrease progesterone production through protein kinase 'c', effector system, pparently by inhibiting intracellular cholesterol cransport; (v) cause degeneration and death of large luteal cells, due to activation of protein kinase 'c' and a sustained elevation of free intracellular calcium concentrations.

2.7.2. Management of oestrous cycle with PGF2 alpha

The luteolytic effect of PGF_2 alpha has been advantageously used in the management of oestrous cycle in cattle. There are several reports to indicate that PGF_2 alpha or its analogues given to cattle between days 5 and 16 of cycle would cause luteolysis with induction of oestrus and ovulation within 3 days (Lauderdale, 1972; Rowson <u>et al</u>., 1972; Louis <u>et al</u>., 1972; Cooper and Rowson, 1975;

22
Lauderdale, 1975; Philipsen and Rasbech, 1974; Hearnshaw, 1976; Cumming et al., 1977; Jackson et al., 1979). Although, the general route of administration is intramuscular, intrauterine treatment has also been tried satisfactory results. Shelton (1973) tried with intrauterine treatment and found better return to oestrus. Cummins et al. (1974) induced oestrus in 85 per cent of cattle with intrauterine administration of 500 mic.g of Estrumate (Cloprostenol) to the horn ipsilateral to the ovary containing a corpus luteum. This was also demonstrated by Nakahara et al. (1974) with promising results. Cooper and Furr (1974) tried intramuscular injection of Estrumate in 175 heifers by giving double spaced injections, 11 days apart, at a dose of 500 mic. g each and found that 171 heifers were in oestrus between 48 and 96 hours with ovulation occurring normally. Oxender et al. (1974) found that plasma progesterone fell from 4.0 ± 0.4 ng ml⁻¹ to 1.5+0.2 ng ml⁻¹ at 12 hours and 0.8+0.2 ng ml⁻¹ at 48 hours after an injection of 30 mg PGF, alpha THAM salt to cows on days 11 of the oestrous cycle. It was also found that plasma LH peaked at 64+4 hours and oestrus began at 74+3 hours with ovulation occurring 104+6 hours after the injection. Oestradiol concentration was more than double by 24 hours and increased to 15.5 ng ml⁻¹ by 72 hours after the PGF, alpha treatment. Nakahara et al. (1975), Day (1977),

Peters et al. (1977), Barnabe et al. (1978), Seguin and Gustafsson (1978), Singh et al. (1979) and Swensson (1979) recommended 500 mic.g.of Estrumate as the most effective dose. Hafs and Manns (1975) tried different doses of 20, 30 and 40 mg of PGF, alpha and found that all these doses were equally effective in inducing oestrus in heifers. Barnabe (1975) demonstrated that the injection of the drug into the uterine horn ipsilateral to the active corpus luteum was most effective, whereas administration into the body of less effective and into the cervix least uterus was effective. Moore (1976), proved that the dosage for intrauterine infusion was 4 or 5 times lesser than the intramuscular route. Greve (1976) reported, induction of heat by an intra uterine infusion of 6 mg PGF₂ alpha, into the uteri of 21 cows, with in 48-70 hours, as 95 per cent. The subsequent pregnancy rate was, however, only 20 per cent. The interval between the administration of PGF, alpha and the ovulation was reported to be 93.0+18 hours (Elving et al., 1975) and 82.00+5.4 hours (Hoffman et al., 1976). Cumming et al. (1977) reported that 90 per cent of the Fluprostenol treated animals, ovulated within 92 hours of the treatment. Coulson et al. (1979) observed that the preovulatory LH peak averaged 48.6+9.2 ng per ml, which occurred about 70 hours after the second injection of PGF, alpha THAM salt. A number of analogues of PGF2 alpha were

24

also shown to be luteolytic in cattle. These included Alfa prostol (Jochle <u>et al.</u>, 1982; Schames and Karg, 1982), Cloprostenol (Cooper, 1974; Cooper and Rowson, 1975; Stotts <u>et al.</u>, 1987) and Fenprostalene (Kelton, 1989).

2.7.3. Fertility in induced cestrus

Cooper (1974) reported a marginal decrease in fertility of cows inseminated at fixed time after the induction of However, Kruif and Brand (1976) found that the heat. conception rate of oestrus detected at PGF, alpha induced heat was comparable to that of controls, the values being 56 per cent for treated and control animals and 58 respectively. Roche (1977), on the other hand, reported that inseminations at 48, 60 and 72 hours of treatment with cloprostenol (500 mg) resulted in lower fertility than two insemination at 60 and 72 hours or at 48 and 72 hours after MacMillan et al. (1978) conducted treatment. trials involving 1400 lactating dairy cows and Friesian 105 heifers, which provided data for evaluation of a synthetic analogue of PGF, alpha (ICI 80996). Using single injection regimen in conjunction with efficient heat detection, the percentage of cows conceived during the first two weeks of seasonal breeding programme increased from 36 (in controls) 60 in treated groups. Nair and Madhavan (1984)to

induced oestrus in suboestrous animals with Estrumate and reported a conception rate of 43.4 per cent. They observed the conception rate in the induced heat was that significantly influenced by the intensity of heat. Chatterjee et al. (1989) treated suboestrous cross-bred cows with PGF₂ alpha by three different routes. It was observed that in the group treated with 25 mg Dinofertin (PGF₂ alpha THAM salt) intramuscular; 90 per cent cows manifested oestrus at an average interval of 93.80 hours after treatment with 50 per cent conception rate. In the group treated with 10 mg Dinofertin intrauterine; 90 per cent cows manifested oestrus at an average interval of 72.80 hours with 50 per cent conception rate; while in the group treated by intravulvo submucosal (IVSM) route with 10 mg, oestrus was manifested in 100 per cent animals at an average interval of 79 hours with 60 per cent conception rate. They further recommended that IVSM route was the best for induction of oestrus in suboestrous cross-bred cows.

2.7.4. Role of PGF₂ alpha in the management of Reproductive health

In an exhaustive review, Wenzel (1991) explained the use of PGF₂ alpha on reproductive health management of dairy cows and opined that the full potential of this drug has yet to be realised and some of its benefits and limitations are yet to be completely elucidated.

26

i. Uterine involution

After a detailed study, Etherington et al. (1984) concluded that cloprostenol treatment at day 24 postpartum was beneficial to improve the reproductive performance. Lindel and Kindahl (1983) reported that frequent injection exogenous PGF, alpha would hasten uterine involution. of According to Kindahl et al. (1984) and Madej et al. (1984), endogenous PGF, alpha concentrations were elevated during the early postpartum period. Several well controlled clinical trials supported the hypothesis that prostaglandins administered to cows 14 to 40 days post-partum would increase the first service conception rate and reduce the calving to conception interval (Young, 1984). An increased uterine motility in ovariectomised, oestrogen primed cows (Garcia-Villar et al., 1987), and in post-partum cows (Ko et al., 1985), was reported when prostaglandin was given. However, Eiler et al. (1984) and Burton et al. (1987) did not demonstrate uterine contractibility by administration of PGF, alpha. Young (1989) found that prostaglandins administered every 12 hours from day 3 to day 13 post calving improved uterine involution. Wichtel (1991) reported that there was evidence of endogenous prostaglandins in placental detachment and uterine involution during the first three to four weeks after calving. Research findings indicated that PGF, alpha used during the post-partum period

would reduce the interval to first oestrus and the number of days open through its effect on uterine involution or ovarian activity before breeding commences.

ii. Ovarian activity

Evidences indicated that prostaglandins cause the release of hypophyseal hormones in cows (Louis et al., 1974; Hafs and Manns, 1975; Oxender and Seguin, 1975; Furr et al., 1981). Scattered smooth muscle fibres in the ovary have been shown to contract rhythmically in response to prostaglandin, demonstrated that relatively slow and strong and contractions of the ovaries of non pregnant cows could be induced with PGF, alpha. Singh et al. (1979) compared this with that of pregnant cow ovaries and the response contractile response was found to be weak and brief. Villeneuve et al. (1987) reported that early postpartum ovarian activity, particularly in the ovary ipsilateral to the previously gravid uterine horn was hastened in cows treated with exogenous PGF, alpha over untreated controls. addition PGF2 alpha in the early post-partum period In positively influenced later ovarian activity (25-35 days post-partum) (Guilbault et al., 1987; Villeneuve et al., 1987), possibly as a result of the direct action of PGF₂ alpha on follicles during the early post-partum period. It has also been hypothesised that PGF, alpha in the early post

partum period influence later ovarian activity as a result of its action on the hypophysis (Thatcher, 1988).

2.7.5. Prostaglandin therapy for endometritis

Prostaglandins have been recommended for the treatment endometritis, because of its luteolytic effect and of thereby reducing the period of luteal phase (Von Haam and Rosenfeld, 1942; Rowson et al., 1953). They opined that the corpus luteum would be persistent in uterine infections, luteolysis and induction of oestrus would bring about number of beneficial changes such as increased uterine leucocyte population and increased uterine contractions resulting in evacuation of uterine contents. Brand et al. (1975), listed the indications of PGF, alpha (Dinoprost) in bovine reproduction and opined that prostaglandin is effective in induction of oestrus through elimination of persistent corpus luteum due to purulent endometritis, pyometra and mummified foetus. Cooper et al. (1976)treated 204 cases of endometritis in cows with cloprostenol and found that 88 per cent were cured. Casagrande et al. (1977) treated 12 Nelore heifers and 53 cows for subclinical endometritis, with 4 mg synthetic prostaglandin intrauterine found that 9 heifers and 22 cows became pregnant. and (1977) obtained excellent results by Jackson treating endometritis in seven cows with 500 mic. g cloprostenol. It

was reported that all of them were in oestrus with in 2-3 days after administration of cloprostenol. In six cases the subclinical endometritis was resolved with uterine involution within seven days and uterine mucus samples showed no specific microbial growth. He also suggested on a study of chronic endometritis, in cattle that 51, out of 56 treated, showed oestrus within 14 days with animals resolution of the condition. According to Coulson (1978), treatment of chronic endometritis should be aimed to correct the abnormalities in both the ovary and uterus, and to eliminate the corpus luteum and induce a normal oestrus. This could be achieved by the luteolytic action of PGF, alpha (Dinoprost Tromethamine-Lutalyse) in the cow to produce regression of corpus luteum, relaxation of cervix and expulsion of uterine contents. Coulson (1978) treated 55 cows suffering from metritis with single intramuscular injection of 25 mg Dinoprost on the day of diagnosis. Oestrus and evacuation of uterine contents occurred in 13 (23.6 per cent) cows within 7 days. Twenty four (43.6 per cent), cows responded in 8-15 days post injection, and 5 (9.1 per cent) revealed no discharge. The total cases responded to treatment was 42 (76.3 per cent). The results indicated the value of Dinoprost as a first line therapy for metritis in cattle. Uwland (1978) recommended synthetic prostaglandin, cloprostenol in the treatment of endometritis in cows. Riznar et al. (1979) also reported the successful

50

treatment of retention of foetal membranes and endometricis with cloprostenol. All cows with retention of foetal membranes and endometritis, received 2 ml cloprostenol on days 21 and 33 postpartum and resulted in a rapid cure. Zuber (1980) obtained a conception rate of 78 per cent with a single injection of Cloprostenol in 184 cows. Ott and Gustafsson (1981) indicated that chronic or mild or moderate endometritis cycling cows would improve with in prostaglandin therapy due to increase in the number of periods, in a shorter period of time. Α oestrous combination of treatment with prostaglandin and iodine was carried out by Seviek et al. (1982). Cloprostenol (0.5 mg) was given in 99 cases of endometritis, twice at an interval of 11 days, in combination with iodine therapy, and obtained a conception rate of 77 per cent. In a comprehensive trial Steffan et al. (1984) allotted 153 cows with metritis in three treatment schedule, 30 days post-partum. One group given antibiotic intrauterine, chloramphenicol, was (Framycetin, 3 doses) second group received 2 doses of PGF, alpha intramuscular 14 days apart and the third group formed the control. The overall clinical recovery rates, at 60 days after parturition was identical (49 per cent) in two treated groups, while it was 33 per cent in control. The mean interval from calving to conception was 147 days in the shortened by 16-24 days in the treated control and was

31

animals. Busch (1984) reported a definite economic advantage in using Cloprostenol for treatment of persistent corpus luteum and pyometra. According to Lusky et al. (1985) the greatest economic advantage of using cloprostenol for mucopurulent endometritis was that more cows conceived at stimum period. Aldermir and first insemination Kilicoglu (1986) successfully treated cows with chronic endometritis using PGF, alpha (Dinoprost) and PGF, alpha analogue (Luprostiol). It was observed that all treated animals came to oestrus and became pregnant with a conception rate ranging 50 to 70 per cent. The advantage of using PGF₂ alpha for post-partum uterine infections was also explained by Paisley et al. (1986). According to them luteolysis induced by PGF₂ alpha administration decreased progesterone inhibition of the uterine defence mechanism. Oestrogen released following luteolysis, would stimulate uterine defence mechanism and also stimulate myometrial contractions, that would aid in the expulsion of uterine lochia, pus or other contents. Oestrogens might also have a stimulatory effect on phagocytosis by uterine leukocytes. Tsakalof et al. (1987) in a comprehensive trial, found that the highest fertility rate was obtained with intramuscular injection of 25 mg PGF, alpha supplemented with intrauterine antibiotics and sulphonamides, Ferreira et al. (1988) reported a recovery rate of 60 per cent after a single

injection of 500 mic. g of cloprostenol, and 76.7 per cent after a second treatment. Boulet (1989) treated 266 cows in three different groups. Group I received intramuscular injection of prostaglandin (Etiproston) and insertion of Chlortetra-cycline bolus in the uterus and found normal II received intramuscular involution. Those in group injection of prostaglandin and noticed that 70 per cent of the treated animals showed normal involution, while 15 per cent had endometritis at 30 days. Animals in group III received only chlortetracycline and resulted normal involution in 36 per cent of cases. In terms of first oestrus, service period and insemination index, better results were noticed in 23 COWS, having chronic endometritis; which were given intramuscular injection of 25 mq Dinoprost together with the intrauterine infusion of 100 ml 4% Lotagen, compared to those treated with lotagen alone (Vukovic et al., 1989). Roy et al. (1990) reported 57 per cent pregnancy rate in 14 cases of endometritis when treated with Dinofertin (Natural PGF, alpha). Murray et al. (1990) did not find any significant advantage, in the efficacy by antibiotics and PGF, alpha, and reported that a combining single injection of Alfaprostol alone was necessary in the treatment of mild, moderate or severe endometritis. Chauhan et al. (1991) successfully treated 10 Nili-Ravi buffaloes, mild or chronic endometritis, with 500 mic. with g cloprostenol (Estrumate).

22

Materials and Methods

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials for the present study consisted of cross-bred (Jersey x Sindhi, Jersey x Local, Brown Swiss x Local COWS and Holstein-Friesian x local) belonging to the Livestock Agricultural Mannuthy, attached to the Kerala Farm, These animals were apparently healthy and University. maintained under identical conditions of feed and management. All cows which did not conceive beyond 45 days detailed clinicosubjected to were post partum, gynaecological examination. Those found to have clinical as evidenced by aberrations of oestrus, endometritis abnormal discharge (Mucopurulent, white or yellow pus) and a large doughy uterus were selected. Those animals which were having corpusluteum and abnormal uterine discharge were also included in the study. The selected animals were randomly alloted to the following four treatment groups.

- Group I. Ten animals in their natural oestrus were inseminated twice at 24 hour interval (control).
- Group II Eleven animals were inseminated twice at 24 hour interval at natural oestrus and subjected to post insemination intrauterine antibiotic therapy 24 hour later based on the antibiotic sensitivity tests.

- Group III Eleven animals were subjected to induction of oestrus by administration of PGF₂ alpha 25 mg intramuscular (Lutalyse 5 ml*) (Fig. 3.1) at 8-12 days of their cycle and inseminated twice at 24 hour interval at the induced oestrus.
- Group IV Ten animals were subjected to induction of oestrus by administration of PGF₂ alpha 25 mg (Lutalyse 5ml) intramuscular at 8-12 days of cycle and inseminated twice at 24 hour interval and were given post insemination antibiotic therapy; intrauterine, based on antibiotic sensitivity, 24 hours later.

The following observations were made:

3.1. Time taken from the administration of PGF₂ alpha to the onset of oestrus in Group III and IV

Each animal after the administration of the PGF₂ alpha was closely observed at an interval of 6 hours and those found to be in cestrus were confirmed by rectal examination. The interval from treatment to the onset of cestrus was recorded as the time taken for the induction of cestrus.

^{*} Lutalyse (Inj): 5 ml (UpJohn) Each ml contains Dinoprost Tromethamine equivalent to Dinoprost 5 mg

3.2. Duration of oestrus

Each cow in oestrus, in all the groups was closely observed at an interval of six hours till the symptoms of oestrus subsided. The period from the beginning to the end of clinical and behavioural signs of oestrus was considered as the duration of oestrus.

3.3. Intensity of oestrus

The intensity of oestrus was graded as intense, medium or weak from the clinical and behavioural signs (Sharma <u>et</u> <u>al</u>., 1968).

3.4. Physical changes of reproductive tract during oestrus

Physical changes of reproductive tract including congestion of vulval mucosa, oedema of vulval lips, sliminess of vulva and tonicity (low, medium and high) of uterine horns were recorded after a detailed clinicogynaecological examination.

3.5. Nature of oestrual mucus

Oestrual mucus of the animals belonging to all four groups were subjected to detailed examination and classified on the basis of appearance, as purulent, cloudy, with flakes of Pus and clear. Nature of oestrual mucus of animals belonging to groups III and IV was examined and classified both before and after the PGF₂ alpha treatment.

Aseptic collection of uterine discharge was carried out by using an instrument fabricated by Vahida (1992), (Fig. 3.2 & 3.3), a modification of the design by Minocha et al. (1964). The instrument used consisted of three telescoping metal tubes, the outer one having a length of 30.5 cm, with outer diameter of 0.7 cm and having a circular base of 4 cm diameter and 1 cm thickness for holding the instrument conveniently at the time of collection of sample. The second tube (middle tube) had a length of 50.5 cm, with outer diameter of 0.5 cm. The inner tube (sampler) was 58.5 long with an outer diameter of 0.3 cm. The sampler was 2m having two holes, each 0.5 cm in length and 0.2 cm in width and one situated at 0.4 cm and 0.8 cm away from the tip, on the opposite sides and intended for aspirating the dishcarge from the uterus. The tip of the sampler was blunt and extending 0.1 cm outwards on all sides so that this extension covered the tip of the middle tube to prevent contamination during introduction. A stiletto (70 cm length and 0.20 cm diameter) was inside the sampler. The instrument was cleaned well before use and dried in an air drier. The outer tube, the inner assembly containing the second tube and sampler with the stiletto, were wraped separately in wraping paper and sterilized at 160°C for one hour in hot air oven.

After cleaning the external genitalia of the selected animals and separating the vulval lips, the sterilized outer tube was introduced into the vagina, upto the external os and held in position. Then the second tube and sampler with stiletto were introduced through the outer tube, until the tip reached the site of collection in the uterus. The stiletto was removed and the sampler alone ______ d 1-3 cm further forward, so that the two openings on either sides were exposed. The discharge from uterus was aspirated by applying negative pressure through an adaptor and syringe attached to the outside end of the sampler.

The sampler was then drawn back so that the openings, were closed, and the sampler with middle tube was taken out through the outer tube. The outer tube was also removed gently. The sample collected was then transferred into a collection vial, through the holes exposed by drawing back the second tube. The nature of the uterine discharge was recorded and the sample thus collected was used for isolation of the organisms, and for antibiotic sensitivity tests.

3.6. Isolation and identification of bacterial organisms

A portion of the sample was streaked on Mueller-Hinton agar/Tryptic soy Agar by streak plate method in order to get well isolated colonies of bacteria present in the sample and incubated at 37°C for 18 to 24 hours. One half of a well isolated single colony was subjected to Gram's staining and other half was subcultured on Mueller-Hinton Agar*/Tryptic Soy Agar** for further purification of the organism. Isolation and identification of organisms were attempted with 21 samples.

Identification of the most predominantly occurring isolates from each sample was elcidated on the basis of morphology and staining reaction, oxidation fermentation of glucose, growth on Mac-Conkey's media, Catalase test, oxidase test, Motility, haemolysis on blood agar, coagulase test, pigment production and further by a battery of biochemical tests (Cowan, 1974).

3.7. Antibiotic sensitivity test and antibiotic treatments 3.7.1. <u>Preparation of culture medium</u>

The reconstituted Mueller-Hinton Agar (38g of Mueller-Hinton Agar in 1000 ml distilled water) was sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C under 15 lbs pressure for 15 minutes. It was then cooled to 45 to 50 °C and poured into sterile glass petri dishes to a depth of 4 mm and kept in the incubator at 37°C for 18 hours to test whether the plates were sterile or not.

^{*} Mueller-Hinton Agar: Himedia Laboratory Pvt.Ltd., Bombay 400 686, India

^{**} Tryptic Soy Agar: Span Biologicals, 174, New Industrial Estate, Udhiana, Surat, India.

3.7.2. Inoculation of plates

well isolated colonies of actively growing Few organisms were suspended into sterile peptone water so as to obtain a turbidity usually comparable to half the density of No.l MacFarland's Standard. Within 15 minutes of а adjusting the turbidity of inoculum a sterile cotton swab was dipped into the standardised suspension and excess of inoculum was removed from the swab by rotating the swab several times with a firm pressure on the inside wall of the test tube above the fluid level and inoculated the surface of a Mueller-Hinton Agar plate by streaking procedure two or three times by rotating the plate approximately 60° each time so as to ensure an even distribution of the inoculum (Barry, 1976).

3.7.3. Application of Antibiotic Discs

Zone size interpretative chart					
No.	Discs used	Strength mic.g	Sensitive (mm or more)	Inter- mediate	Resistant (mm or less)
*1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7.	Penicillin Streptomycin Oxytetracycline Nitrofurantoin Chloramphenicol Gentamicin Suphadiazine	10 IU 10 30 300 30 10 300	29 15 19 17 18 15 17	12-14 15-18 15-16 13-17 13-14	28 11 14 14 12 12 12 12

The antibiotic discs used are given below.

* Diameter of zone of inhibition of staphylococci

Using sterile forceps, antibiotic discs were applied over the surface of the plate and pressed gently to ensure even contact with the medium. To avoid overlapping of the zones of inibition, the discs were kept at a minimum distance of 15 mm from ech other and also from the edges of the plate.

3.7.4. Incubation

The plates after inoculation were incubated at 37°C for 18 hours.

3.7.5. Reading of zones of inhibition

The diamter of zone of inhibition was measured by a millimetre ruler to the nearest millimetre and each zone was interpreted as sensitive or resistant, on the basis of zone interpretative chart.

3.7.6. Artificial insemination

All cows in oestrus were inseminated with fresh chilled semen twice at 24 hour interval. Cows which failed to settle with first insemination were reinseminated on subsequent oestrus.

3.7.7. Antibiotic treatment

Uterine discharge of animals in group II and IV were subjected to antibiotic sensitivity tests, and based on the were subjected to post insemination results thev intrauterine antibiotic therapy at the recommended systemic dose level. Animals which showed sensitivity to gentamicin were given single intrauterine administration of 1200 mg gentamicin (Gentamicin inj*) in aqueous vehicle. Animals showed sensitivity to penicillin and streptomycin were given single intrauterine administration of 2.5 g of streptomycin and penicillin 20 lakhs units. Bistrepen** (LDV) dissolved in 20 ml distilled water. Animals which showed sensitivity to oxytetracycline were treated by single intrauterine 1.5 g oxytetra-cycline (Alcvclin-0 administration of inj***), 1.5 g of oxytetracycline dis-solved in 30 ml aqueous vehicle. Chloramphenicol sensitive cases were

- * Gentamicin inj (30 ml) (Alembic). Each ml contains Gentamicin Sulphate I.P. equivalent to 40 mg Gentamicin base.
- ** Bistrepen LDV (2.5 g) (Alembic). Each vial contains procaine Penicillin G, B.P. (Vet) 1,500,000 units,penicillin G sodium B.P (vet) 500,000 units. Streptomycin sulphate B.P. (Vet) equivalent to 2.5 g of streptomycin base.
- *** Alcyclin 0 inj (30 ml) (Alembic). Each ml contains oxytetracycline dihydrate I.P. equivalent to Anhydrous oxytetracycline 50 mg.

treated by single intrauterine administration of 1500 mg chloramphenicol (Enteromycetin)**** mixed in 30 ml sterile distilled water. Similarly, animals which were sensitive to Nitrofurantoin were treated by single intrauterine administration of nitrofurazone 0.2 per cent W/W 30ml (Furacin Vet 30ml****). All the antibiotic treatments were done 24 hours after the second insemination.

3.8. Number of inseminations per conception

Those cows which failed to conceive were reinseminated on subsequent oestrus and pregnancy diagnosis was done by rectal examination, between days 45 and 60. Number of inseminations required per conception was calculated in each group.

3.9. Conception rate

First service conception rate and overall conception rate of each group was calculated.

- .**** Enteromycetin (8 ml inj, Days Pharma).Each ml contains Chloramphenicol I.P. 125 mg.
- ***** Furacin Vet 30 ml (Alembic). Nutrofurazone B.P. 0.2
 per cent W/W in a water soluble base.

'se (Inj) 5 ml (UpJohn)

.

.

.

,



Fig. 3.2. Instrument used for the aseptic collection of uterine discharge

.

Fig. 3.3. Instrument for the aseptic collection of uterine discharge: Different parts

Outertube, middle tube, sampler tube, stiletto, syringe with adaptor and collection vial



Results

RESULTS

Results of the investigation of the therapy for endometritis using PGF₂ alpha are presented in table 1 to 12 and figures 1 to 9.

4.1. Time taken for the induction of oestrus

Time taken for the induction of oestrus in animals in group III and IV is presented in table 1. All the animals in group III and IV evinced oestrus after administration of Lutalyse. It could also be seen that the interval from the administration of the drug to the expression of oestrus ranged from 48 to 120 hours with an average of 61.81 hours in group III. The time taken for induction of oestrus after the administration of drug in group IV was found to be within a range of 36 to 72 hours and averaged 54 hours.

4.2. Duration of oestrus

The duration of oestrus is presented in table 2. It varied from 12-24 hours (mean 21.6 hours) 18-24 hours (mean 23.36 hours), 24-48 hours (mean 28.36 hours) and 24-48 hours (mean 31.6 hours) in group I, II, III and IV respectively. Analysis of data revealed a significant difference in the duration of oestrus between groups. It was further revealed that duration of oestrus was significantly different between groups I and IV (t' = 2.8910) and II and IV (t' = 2.6445).

Tables

4.3. Intensity of oestrus

The data presented in table 3 and figure 1 revealed that in group I, out of 10 animals 6 (60 per cent) showed intense oestrus, 3 (30 per cent) medium oestrus and 1 (10 per cent) weak signs of oestrus. Similarly, in group II, out 11 animals, 8 animals (72.72 per cent) showed intense of oestrus, 2 animals (18.18 per cent) with medium oestrus and one animal (9.09 per cent) showed weak oestrus. It could also be noted that, the percentage of intense, medium and weak oestrus was 66.66, 23.80 and 9.52 per cent respectively in natural oestrus. It may also be seen from the table 4 and figure 2 that the occurrence of intense, medium and weak oestrus was 8 (72.72 per cent), 2 (18.18 per cent) and 1 (9.09 per cent) respectively in group III and the same in group IV was 6 (60 per cent) 2 (20 per cent) and 2 (20 per cent) respectively when oestrus was induced with Lutalyse. The percentage of intense, medium and weak oestrus in both induced groups put together was however, 66.66, 19.04 and 14.28 per cent respectively.

4.4. Physical changes of reproductive tract

Physical changes of reproductive tract during natural oestrus (Group I and II) and induced oestrus (group III and IV) are presented in table 5 and 6 and figures 3 and 4 respectively. In group I, the percentage of animals showing oedema of vulva, congestion of vulval mucosa, vulval discharge and sliminess was in 80, 100 and 100 per cent while the values in group II were 81.81, 90.90 and 90.90 per cent respectively. Similarly, the percentage of animals which showed high, medium and low uterine tone was 70,30 and 0 per cent respectively in group I, while it was 63.63, 36.36 and 0 per cent in group II respectively. The overall value when the two groups put together (natural oestrus) were 80.95, 95.25 and 95.25 per cent in respect of vulval oedema, congestion of vulval mucosa and vulval discharge and sliminess, where as the tonicity of uterus was high, medium and low in 66.66, 33.33 and 0 per cent. All the animals in group III showed oedema of vulva, congestion of vulval mucosa and vulval discharge and sliminess. Similarly, tonicity of uterus was high in all experimental animals in group III. In group IV also all the animals showed vulval oedema, congestion of vulval mucosa and sliminess and vulval discharge, while tonicity of uterus was high in 60 per cent animals and medium in 40 per cent animals. Thus it could be seen from the table that all the animals in which oestrus induced showed vulval oedema, congestion discharge and was sliminess, and the maximum percentage of these animals showed high tonicity of uterus.

4.5. Nature of oestrual discharge

Perusal of data presented in table 7 and figure 5 revealed that out of 10 animals in group I, 3 (30 per cent) had purulent discharge, 2 (20 per cent) discharge with flakes and in 5 (50 per cent) it was cloudy. In group II out of 11 animals 4 (36.36 per cent) had purulent discharge, 2(18,18 per cent) had discharge with flakes of pus and in 5 (45.45 per cent) it was cloudy. Data presented in table 8 figures 6 and 7 showed that in groups III and IV the and number of animals having pruulent vaginal discharge 3(27.27 per cent) and 5 (50 per cent) respectively before treatment. After treatment, however, the number of animals with purulent discharge was reduced to 2 (18.18 per cent) and 1 (10 per cent) in the respective groups. Similarly in groups III and IV the number of animals with flakes was 2 (18.18 per cent) and 3 (30 per cent) before treatment which were reduced to 1 (9.09 per cent) and 1 (10 per cent) respectively after treatment. So also, out of 6 animals (54.54 per cent) in group III having cloudy discharge before treatment, the number of reduced to 1 (9.09 per cent) after treatment with Lutalyse. Similarly in group IV out of 2 animals (20 per cent) which had cloudy discharge, 50 per cent were cured after treatment. It could also be seen from the table 8 and figures 6 and 7 that out of 11 animals in group III and also out of 10 animals in group IV in which

discharge was not clear before treatment, 63.63 per cent in group III and 70 per cent in group IV showed clear discharge after the treatment.

4.6. Isolation, identification and antibiogram of bacterial organisms

Uterine discharge from 21 animals were subjected to isolation and identification of bacteria and the results are given in table 9 and 10. The organisms were S. <u>aureus</u> cent), (Fig 4.1), coagulase negative (14.28)per staphylococci spp. (9.52 per cent), Bacillus spp. (23.80 per cent), Corynebacterium spp (9.52 per cent), Pseudomonas (14.28 per cent) (Fig. 4.2) and Citrobacter (23.84 per cent) and the yeast Candida guilliermondii (4.76 per cent), (Fig. 4.3 & 4.4). Among the S. aureus species 33.33 per cent were sensitive to gentamicin and chloramphenicol and resistant to Penicillin, Streptomycin, oxytetracycline, sulphadiazine and nitrofurantoin. All the coagulase negative staphylococci were sensitive to sulphadiazine, nitrofurantoin, chloramphenicol and gentamicin, but were resistant to Penicillin. While 50 per cent of the isolates were sensitive to Oxytetracycline, the remaining were resistant to oxytetracycline. All the Bacillus spp. isolated Streptomycin, chloramphenicol, sensitive to were nitrofurantoin and gentamicin. Eighty per cent of the

sensitive to penicillin, Bacillus isolates were oxytetracycline and sulphadiazine. Corynebacterium spp. isolated were sensitive to oxytetracycline, sulphadiazine, chloramphenicol and gentamicin. Fifty per cent of them were to penicillin and Streptomycin. A11 the sensitive Pseudomonas isolates were resistant to all the seven antibiotics tested. All the citrobacter isolates were resistant to penicillin, streptomycin and Furazolidone. Sixty per cent of them were sensitive to oxytetracycline and gentamicin, 80 per cent to sulphadiazine and 20 per cent to chloramphenicol.

It could be seen from the table 11 and figure 8 that, out of 20 samples 16 (80 per cent) were sensitive to gentamicin 14 (70 per cent) sensitive to chloramphenicol, 11 (55 per cent) to 'sulphadiazine'. 11 (55 per cent) to oxytetracycline, 10 (50 per cent) to nitrofurantoin 5 (25 per cent) to streptomycin and 4 (20 per cent) to penicillin. (Fig. 4.5, 4.6 and 4.7)

4.7. Number of inseminations per conception

The number of inseminations required per conception and conception rates are presented in table 12 and figure 9. Perusal of data revealed that, the number of animals conceived was 3 out of 10, 6 out of 11, 9 out of 11 and 10 out of 10 in group I, II, III and IV respectively. The number of inseminations required per conception in the respective groups was 5.66, 3.83, 1.77 and 2.20.

4.8. Conception rate

The conception rate for first insemination in group I to IV were 30, 30, 54.53 and 50 per cent respectively, while the overall conception rates were found to be 30, 54.54, 81.80 and 100 per cent respectively. Analysis of data revealed that the overall conception rate was significantly different between groups. It was further observed that the overall conception rates between groups I and III (t' = 5.5886); I and IV (t' = 4.8341) and II and IV (t' = 2.9186) were significantly different.

Tables
				_~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
Groups	No. of animals	No. of animals evinced oestrus	Time taken for induction of oestrus (hours)		
			Range	Mean	
III	11	11	48-120	61.81	
IV	10	10	36-72	54.00	
Inference:	Time take	n for the inducti	on of oestrus	between group	

Table 2. Duration of oestrus in experimental animals.

Groups	No. of animals in each group -	Duration of oestrus (hours)				
	III each group -	Range	Mean			
I	10	12-24	21.60			
II	11	18-24	23.36			
III	11	24-48	28.36			
IV	10	24-48	31.60			
Inference	: Duration of oestrus b (t' = 2.8910) and II were significantly di	and IV $(t' = 2)$				

Table 1. Time taken for induction of oestrus

.

Groups	No. of	Intensity of natural oestrus						
	animals	I	Intense		Medium		Weak	
		Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
I	10	<u>-</u> 6	60.00	3	30.00	1	10.00	
II	11	8	72.72	2	18 .18	1	9.09	
Total	21	 14	66.66	5	23.80	2	9.52	

Table 3. Intensity of cestrus in Group I and II

Table 4. Intensity of oestrus in Group III and IV

Groups	No. of animals	Intensity of induced oestrus						
	aninais	I	Intense Medium		edium	Weak		
		Number	Percent	Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
III	11	8	72.72	2	18.18	1	9.09	
IV	10	6	60.00	2	20.00	2	20.00	
Total	21 	14 	66.66	4 	19.04	3	14.28	

Table 5.	Physica (Group I				reproductiv			-		estru	1S		
Groups	No. of animals	0	edema of	Con	gestion of	Sliminess 3		Tone of	the	uterine	horns		
				vulval mucosa							ium		
و سی رسز این سر سر مد مد مد مد م		No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.		No.	Percent				rcent
I	10	8	80.00	10	100.00		100.00			3	30.00	-	-
II	11		81.81		90.90		90.90					-	-
Total	21	17	80.95	20	95.25	20	95.25	14	66.66	7	33.33		
		l ch	anges of		reproductiv								
Groups			edema of ulva	Con	gestion of	Sl:	iminess		Tone of	the	uterine	horns	
	antwarp.	• 					High		Med	Medium L			
		No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.Pe	rcent

11 11 100.00 11 100.00 11 100.00 11 100.00 III . 10 10 100.00 10 100.00 6 IV 10 100.00 60.00 4 40.00 -, Total 21 100.00 21 100.00 .21 100.00 17 80.95 19.04 -21 4

٦

Groups	No. of animal				Nature o	f Di	scharge		
	in eac				With flakes		Cloudy	(Clear
	group	No.	Percent		Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent
I	10	3 [~]	30.00	2	20.00	5	50.00	-	-
II	11	4	36.36	2	18.18	5	45.45	-	-

.

.

Table 7. Nature of discharge in Group I and II

.

-

Groups	No. of animals in each group	Nature of Discharge								
		Purulent		With flakes		Cloudy		Clear		
		BT	AT	BT	ăT	BT	AT	BT	AT	
III	11	3 (27.27)	2 (18.18)	2 (18.18)	l (9.09)	6 (54.54)	l (9.09)	_	7 (63.63)	
IV	10	5 (50.00)	1 (10.00)	3 (30.00)	1 (10.00)	2 (20.00)	1 (10.00)	-	7 (70.00)	

Table 8. Nature of Discharge in Group III and IV

.

-

Figures in parenthesis represent the percentage

Table 9. Identification of organisms

.

Sl.No.	Organisms identified	Number	Per cent
	· ·		
1.	Staphylococcus aureus	3	14.28
2.	Coagulase negative staphylococci spp.	2	9.52
3.	Bacillus spp.	5	23.80
4.	Corynebacterium spp.	2	9.52
5.	Pseudomonas spp.	3	14.28
6.	Citrobacter spp.	5	23.84
7.	<u>Candida</u> guilliermondii	l	4.76
	Total	21	100.00

Tab	le 10. Bacterial isolates	and	tnei	r sens.	1 tivity	patte.	rn 	
	late Name of organisms			Antib	iotics u	sed		
No.		P	St	0	´ Z	С	F	J
 1.	<u>S. aureus</u>	R	R	R	R	R	R	R
2.	<u>S. aureus</u>	R	R	R	R	R	R	R
3.	<u>S</u> . <u>aureus</u>	R	R	R	R	S	R	S
4.	Coagulase negative staphylococci	R	R	S	S	S	S	S
5.	Coagulase negative staphylococci	R	R	R	S	S	S	S
6.	Bacillus spp.	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
7.	Bacillus spp.	S '	S	S	R	S	S	S
8.	Bacillus spp.	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
9.	Bacillus spp.	S	S	s .	S	s.	S	S
10	Bacillus spp.	R	S	R	S	S	S	ន
11	Corynebacterium spp.	S	S	S	S	S	S	S
12	Corynebacterium spp.	R	R	S	S	S	S	S
13	Pseudomonas spp.	R	R	R	R	R	R	R
14	Pseudomonas spp.	R	R	R	R	R	R	R
15	Pseudomonas spp.	R	R	R	R.	R	R	R
16	<u>Citrobacter</u> <u>amalonaticus</u>	R	R	S	S	R	R	S
17	Citrobacter amalonaticus	R	R	S	S	R	R	S
18	<u>Citrobacter</u> <u>amolonaticus</u>	R	R	S	S	R	R	S
1.9	Citrobacter spp.	R	R	R	S	R	R	R
20	Citrobacter spp.	R	R .	R	R	S	R 	R

Table 10. Bacterial isolates and their sensitivity pattern

P=Penicillin, St=Streptomycin,O=Oxytetracycline,C=Chloramphenicol, F=Nitrofurantoin J=Gentamicin, S=Sensitive, R=Resistant. Z = Sulphadiazine

•

	-					
 Sl.	Drugs	Sen	sitive	Resis	tant	Total
No.		Number	Percent	Number	Percent	
1.	Penicillin	4	20	16	80	20
2.	Streptomycin	5	25	15	75	20
з.	Oxytetracycline	11	55	9	45	20
4.	Chloramphenicol	14	70	6	30	20
5.	Sulphadiazine	11	55	9	45	20
6.	Nitrofurantoin	10	5 Ó	10	50	20
7.	Gentamicin	16	80	4	20	20

Table 11. Response to sensitivity tests

Table 12. Number of inseminations required per conception and conception rate

Groups	No. of animals in each group	No. of animals concei- ved	No. of inse- minations re- quired per conception	Conception rate for first inse- mination	Overall conception rate
I	10	3	5.66	30.00	30.00
II	11	б .	3.83	30.00	54.54
III	11	9	1.77	54.53	81.80
IV	10	10	2.20	<u>50.00</u>	100.00

Inference: Significant difference in the overall conception rate
between group I and IV (t' = 4.8341)
Significant difference in the overall conception rate
between group II and IV (t' = 2.9186)
Significant difference in the overall conception rate
between group I and III (t' = 3.5886)

Fig. 4.1. <u>Staphylococcus</u> <u>aureus</u> culture on Mueller Hinton Agar

Fig. 4.2.





Fig. 4.3. <u>Candida guilliermondii</u> culture on Potato Dextrose Agar

Fig. 4.4. Candida guilliermondii stained smear

÷

.





Fig. 4.5. Bacterial isolate sensitive to Penicillin, Streptomycin, Chloramphenicol, Tetracycline, Nitrofurantoin and Sulphadiazine

Fig. 4.6. Bacterial isolate sensitive to Tetracycline, Chloramphenicol, Streptomycin, Nitrofurantoin and mesistant to Penicillin and Sulpha diazine





Fig. 4.7. Bacterial isolate resistant to Streptomycin, Nitrofurantoin, Chloramphenicol, Penicillin, Gentamicin and Tetracycline



FIG. 1. INTENSITY OF NATURAL OESTRUS IN GROUP I AND II



FIG. 2. INTENSITY OF INDUCED OESTRUS IN GROUP III AND IV



FIG. 3. PHYSICAL CHANGES OF REPRODUCTIVE TRACT DURING NATURAL OESTRUS



O.V. = Oedema vulva; C.v.m. = Congestion of vulval mucosa; Slim = Sliminess and discharge; Ht. = Hightone; Mt = Mediun tone

FIG. 4. PHYSICAL CHANGES OF REPRODUCTIVE TRACT DURING INDUCED OESTRUS



Group III Group IV

O.v. = Oedema vulva; C.v.m. = Congestion of vulval mucosa; Slim = Sliminess and discharge; Ht. = High tone; Mt = Medium tone

FIG.5. NATURE OF DISCHARGE IN GROUP | AND ||



FIG.6. NATURE OF DISCHARGE IN GROUP III AND IV BEFORE TREATMENT



FIG.7. NATURE OF DISCHARGE IN GROUP III AND IV AFTER TREATMENT







FIG. 9. CONCEPTION RATES IN DIFFERENT GROUPS



First Service

Overall conception rate conception rate

Discussion



DISCUSSION

Bovine endometritis has been considered as the most prevalent of all the common periparturient diseases of dairy cattle with greatest impact on fertility (Jackson, 1977; Seguin, 1980; Murray <u>et al</u>., 1990; Gilbert, 1992). The magnitude of this condition is so great that it increases the service period and lengthen the intercalving period with resultant economic loss. Several therapeutic measures have been tried in the past for the treatment of this important condition with varied results (Moberg, 1952; Cooper, 1974; Pant <u>et al</u>., 1991). Because of the complex nature of the etiology of this melody, a rational approach for its treatment is a necessity.

Several lines of treatment have been tried in the past for bovine endometritis like antibiotics, antiseptics, oestrogens (Ziv, 1980; Bretzlaff <u>et al</u>., 1983; Jayappa and Loken, 1983; Gustafsson, 1984; Ball <u>et al</u>., 1984), but the use of PGF₂ alpha is of a recent origin. Although very little information is available on the beneficial effect of PGF₂ alpha, in treating clinical endometritis in cycling cows, favourable results have been reported by Coulson (1978) and Ott and Gustafsson (1981). Since then several trials have been carried out to study the utility of PGF₂ alpha and its structural variants for endometritis (Chauhan <u>et al</u>., 1984; Paisley <u>et al</u>., 1986; Youngquist and Braun, 1986; Studer and Holtan, 1986; Pant <u>et al.</u>, 1991). The present investigation was taken upto compare the efficacy of PGF_2 alpha and antibiotics with the ultimate object of evolving a suitable non antibiotic therapy for post partum clinical endometritis

The material used for the present study consisted of 42 crossbred cows belonging to Livestock Farm attached to the Kerala Agricultural University, which were maintained under identical conditions of feed and management, but did not conceive beyond 45 days post partum and were diagnosed to have clinical endometritis.

5.1. Time taken for the induction of oestrus

Perusal of data presented in table 3 and 4 revealed that out of 21, all the animals evinced oestrus after administration of lutalyse. This is in accordance with the findings of earlier workers that majority of the animals treated with PGF_2 alpha would show oestrus within a period of 3-4 days (Lauderdale, 1972; Liehr and Marion, 1972; Louis <u>et al.</u>, 1972; Rowson <u>et al.</u>, 1972; Oxender <u>et al.</u>, 1974; Lauderdale, 1975; Seguin, 1979; Schams and Karg, 1982; Martinez and Thibier, 1984; Stotts <u>et al.</u>, 1987; Kelton, 1989; Pant <u>et al.</u> 1991). Interval from the administration

of the drug to the expression of oestrus ranged from 48 to 120 hours with an average of 61.81 hours in Group III. The time taken for induction of oestrus after the mean administration of drug in group IV was found to be 54 hours and ranged from 36 to 72 hours. Thus it could be seen that, an average, 58.95 hours were required to induce oestrus on experimental animals. Similar observations were also in made by Roche (1974), Cooper and Furr (1974), Philipsen and Rasbech (1974), Ganeswaran and Patil (1975) Barnabe (1975), Becze et al. (1976), Gupta et al. (1978), Drew and Gould (1980), Seguin et al. (1985), Kelton (1989) and Pant et al. (1991), who reported that oestrus could be induced by administration of PGF₂ alpha in cycling cows within 2-4 days administration. On the contrary, poor response of of oestrus induction by PGF₂ alpha was reported by Eddy (1977), Leidl (1978), Singh et al. (1979), Khurana (1979), Chauhan et al. (1980), Momont and Seguin (1984) and Seguin et al. This might be due to treatment of cows (1985). during the non responsive stage of oestrus cycle as reported by Chauhan et al. (1980).

5.2. Duration of oestrus

The average duration of oestrus was 21.6 hours, 23.36 hours, 28.36 hours and 31.60 hours in Group I, II, III and IV respectively. Analysis of data revealed that the duration

υц

of oestrus in group IV was significantly longer than the other groups which had natural oestrus. Although, the duration of oestrus in group III was not significantly longer than group I and II, it appeared that the cestrus of animals administered with PGF₂ alpha was of longer duration than that of natural oestrus. Thus it could be assumed that the duration of induced oestrus did show slight to marked variation than normal oestrus in cross-bred cows. This is in contrast to the earlier reports of Elving et al. (1975) and Nair and Madhavan (1984) who reported that duration, of induced oestrus using PGF, alpha did not show marked variation from the normal oestrus in cross-bred cows. Although, there is paucity of information on the nature and duration of prostaglandin induced oestrus in cross-bred animals, Louis et al. (1973) and Louis et al. (1974) reported that the physiological events which follow treatment with PGF, alpha were not distinguishable from which followed naturally occurring luteolysis. those However, it was further reported that the response to PGF, alpha in terms of the duration of oestrus and onset of oestrus was reported to be variable especially in lactating dairy cattle. This was attributed to the ovarian status at the time of PGF, alpha administration. In this study all experimental animals were in early lactation and the the variation in duration of oestrus between natural and induced

oestrus might be attributed to this as reported by Macmillan (1983) and Fortin et al. (1988).

5.3. Intensity of oestrus

Data presented in table 3 and 4 and figure 1 and 2 revealed that the percentage of intense medium and weak cestrus was 66.66 per cent, 23.80 per cent and 9.52 per cent respectively in natural oestrus while the respective values in induced group were 66.66 per cent, 19.04 per cent and 14.28 per cent respectively. Although comparable data on the intensity of induced oestrus are not available, Ginther (1968), and Nair and Madhavan (1984) reported a high incidence of weak signs of oestrus when oestrus was induced with PGF₂ alpha, and attributed this to a partial luteolysis resulting in weak expression of oestrus in animals affected with subclinical uterine infections. The present study also concurs with the above observation since the percentage of weak oestrus (14.28 per cent) in the experimental animals was higher than that of natural oestrus (9.52 per cent).

5.4. Physical changes in reproductive tract

Perusal of data presented in table 5 and 6 and figures 3 and 4 revealed that the physical changes of reproductive tract did not show any variations between animals showing natural oestrus and those in which oestrus was induced. A11 the animals in which oestrus was induced showed vulval oedema, congestion of vulval mucosa and sliminess, and maximum percentage of these animals showed high tonicity of uterus, similar to natural oestrus. This is in full agreement with that of Schultz (1980), Seguin (1980) and (1991), who also reported that the cyclical changes Wenzel of reproductive tract were not affected by induction of oestrus with PGF2 alpha, and remarked that luteolysis and changes of reproductive tract either occurring naturally or by induction with exogenous PGF, alpha are similar in nature.

5.5. Nature of oestrual discharge

Data presented in table 7 and 8 and figures 5, 6 and 7 show the percentage of animals having purulent discharge, discharge with flakes, cloudy and clear discharge in all the four groups. Perusal of data in table 8 reveal that in group III, when treated with PGF_2 alpha alone, there was a marked reduction in the percentage of animals with purulent discharge, discharge with flakes and cloudy discharge. It could also be seen that none of these animals had clear discharge before treatment. The percentage of animals with clear discharge after treatment was 63.63 per cent.

Similarly in group IV when the animals were given antibiotics and PGF, alpha, the percentage of animals showing purulent discharge, discharge with flakes and cloudy discharge also reduced considerably, although, it was not markedly different from those in group III. Similarly, the number of animals showing clear discharge in the group after treatment was 70 per cent, which clearly indicates the beneficial effect of PGF, alpha in evacuating the purulent exudate from the uterus. Several workers have reported the beneficial effect of PGF, alpha in uterine infections by effecting evacuation of the uterine contents and thereby enhancing the healing of endometrium (Paisley et al., 1986; Arthur et al., 1989; Murray et al., 1990; Wenzel, 1991). The ability of PGF, alpha for stimulating the phagocytosis by uterine leucocytes and making the uterine discharge clear has also been well documented (Vandeplassche, 1984; Paisley <u>et al</u>., 1986).

5.6. Isolation, identification and antibiogram of bacterial organisms

The present study isolated coagulase negative staphylococcus spp. (9.52 per cent), <u>S. aureus</u> (14.28 per cent), Bacillus spp. (23.80 per cent), Corynibacterium spp. (9.52 per cent), Pseudomonas spp. (14.28 percent), citrobacter spp. (23.84 per cent), <u>Candida guilliermondii</u>

65

(4.76 per cent) from the uterine exudate of experimental animals (Table 9). Isolation of various microbial agents have been reported earlier also. Hinze (1959) opined that nonspecific opportunist pathogens are the most important causes of endometritis and that these organisms might have reached the uterus from vagina at oestrus or at parturition. He also remarked that most of these organisms would have been normal inhabitants of the dairy cattle. Elliot et al. (1968) identified 36 species of bacteria. Hartigan et al. (1974) isolated C. pyogenes as the most common pathogen in post partum uterine infections. According Benjamin <u>et al</u>. (1982) <u>S. aureus</u>, <u>E</u>. coli to and corynebacteria are the most common pathogens infecting the uterus during the puerperal period. However, Martine and Thibier (1984) remarked that the epidemiological pattern of endometritis need not be generalised in all cases. David and Bonnier (1984), Singh et al. (1989), Khan et al. (1990), Biolatti (1991), Kudryavtsev (1991) and Vahida (1992) also isolated the common microorganisms from the uterine exudate as reported in the present study. However, perusal of literature did not reveal isolation of Candida guilliermondii as reported in the present study. This organism was isolated from uterine exudate of one cow in which discharge did not become clear even after treatment with PGF, alpha. Probably further studies on this organism and its treatment are warranted.

A critical study on the sensitivity test of the uterine exudate revealed (table 10, 11 and figure 8) that maximum per cent of animals were sensitive to gentamicin followed by oxytetracycline co-trimoxazole chloramphenicol, and Furazolidone. On the other hand, maximum resistance was shown to penicillin and streptomycin. This might be on the indiscriminate use of penicillin account of and streptomycin in treating infections making them resistant to these antibiotics. Koleff et al. (1973) by conducting sensitivity tests of bacterial flora of uterine contents of having endometritis found that the most effective Cows antibiotics was ampicillin, followed by chloramphenicol and tetracycline. Sinha et al. (1977) recommended chloramphenithe most effective drug for col as treatment of endometritis. Kharade and Kulharni (1983) found that most of the uterine isolates were sensitive to gentamicin and Kanamycin. Varadarajan et al. (1985), Sudhaker (1986), Varadarajan and Nair (1989), Vahida (1992) also concurred that gentamicin was the most effective drug for clinical endometritis. This is in agreement with present findings. The finding that the majority of animals were resistant to penicillin and Streptomycin was reported earlier also (Iyer, 1992).

In the present study, in all the experimental animals, the dose of antibiotics given intrauterine was the same as

v /

systemic use. Arthur (1989) also recommended for recommended that the dose for intrauterine use should be similar to that of systemic administration. It could also be seen that better conception rate was obtained by oxytetracycline, chloramphenicol, administration of co-trimoxazole and Furazolidone. Similar findings have also been reported earlier (Guedawy et al., 1983; Moore et al., 1984; Varadarajan, 1985; Sudhaker, 1986). Vahide (1992) stressed the efficacy of gentamicin for treatment of uterine infections and remarked that systemic administration was found to be more effective than uterine administration. In the present study, however, only intrauterine administration was done and data for systemic administration is lacking for comparison.

5.7. Number of inseminations per conception

The number of inseminations required per conception, the conception rate for first insemination and overall conception rate are presented in table 12 and figure 9. It may be seen that the number of insemination required per conception was 5.56, 3.83, 1.77 and 2.20 in groups I, II, III and IV respectively.
5.8. Conception rate

The conception rate for first insemination was 30,30, 54.53 and 50 per cent in the groups I, II, III, and IV respectively, while the respective values for overall conception rate were 30, 54.54, 81.80 and 100 per cent. It could be assumed from the above data that the number of insemination required per conception was significantly less in group III and IV than the other two groups. It may also be noted that the conception rate in the first insemination were also higher in group III and IV, compared to that in group I and II. Significant difference in overall conception rate was also observed between group I and IV. group II and IV and group I and III. However, no significant difference was observed in the overall conception rate between group III and IV. This clearly indicates that the overall conception rate of the animals treated with prostaglandin alone and in combination with antibiotics were higher than those of other groups of animals. Thus it could be inferred that administration of PGF, alpha alone or in combination with antibiotics would be beneficial in the treatment of endometritis. However, since no beneficial effect in conception rate was noticed between the animals in group III and IV, it could be inferred that administration of PGF, alpha alone would be beneficial to improve the overall fertility of the animals. Moreover, it may be

noted that the number of insemination per conception was less in group III than group IV. Vandeplassche (1984) and Paisley et al. (1986) opined that by intrauterine therapy there was risk of introducing new infection into the uterus, injuring the endometrium and depressing uterine phagocytic activity and drug resistance. They also warned that the economic losses resulting from unnecessary therapy and milk withdrawal after antibiotic therapy have to be weighed against any gains resulting from this therapy. The preponderence of literature also supports the view that there is only occasional beneficial effect with more of economic loss from antibiotics and antibacterial therapy for uterine disorders especially in post partum period. Because PGF, alpha therapy has the advantage of no requirement for milk withdrawal and no drug resistance, it can be recommended as a treatment regime for endometritis. It may also be pointed out that administration of PGF2 _alpha in endometritis has not only the therapeutic value for uterine infections, but also shortens the interval from parturition oestrus, thus reducing the calving to conception to interval.

Summary

SUMMARY

The aim of the investigation was to assess the therapeutic value of PGF₂ alpha for evolving a non antibiotic alternative in the treatment of post partum clinical endometritis.

The materials used for the investigation consisted of 42 crossbred cows belonging to the livestock farm attached to the Kerala Agricultural University, Mannuthy. These animals were maintained under identical conditions of feed and management. All animals which have not conceived beyond 45 days post partum were subjected to detailed clinico gynaecological examination and those found to have clinical endometritis were selected and randomly allotted into four treatment groups. Group I consisted of ten animals which were watched for their natural oestrus and inseminated twice 24 hours interval (control). Group II consisting of 11 at animals were inseminated twice at 24 hours interval at their oestrus, and subjected to post insemination natural intrauterine antibiotic therapy 24 hours later, based on antibiotic sensitivity tests. Eleven animals in group III were subjected to induction of oestrus by administration of PGF₂, alpha (Lutalyse) 25 mg intramuscular, 8-12 days of their cycle and inseminated twice at 24 hour interval at the induced oestrus. Ten animals in group IV, were subjected to

induction of oestrus as in Group III and inseminated twice at 24 hours interval and were given post insemination intrauterine antibiotic therapy based on sensitivity tests, 24 hours later.

It was noticed that the time taken for induction of oestrus, after administration of PGF₂ alpha varied from 48hours with an average of 61.81 hours in group III and 120 36-72 hours with a mean of 54 hours in group IV. The duration of oestrus showed significant difference between It averaged 21.6 hours in group I, 23.36 hours in groups. group II, 28.36 hours in group III and 31.60 hours in group Among the experimental animals in group I, 60 per cent IV. showed intense oestrus, 30 per cent showed medium and 10 per weak oestrus. In group II, the percentage of animals cent showing intense, medium and weak oestrus was 72.72, 18.18 9.09 per cent respectively. The percentage of animals and showing intense, medium and weak oestrus in natural oestrus 66.66, 23.80 and 9.52 respectively while the values in was animals with induced oestrus was 66.66 per cent, 19.04 per cent and 14.28 per cent respectively. The percentage animals showing oedema of vulva was 80, 81.81 in group I and II respectively. Congestion of vulval mucosa was noticed in and 90.90 per cent of animals, sliminess of vagina in 100 100 and 90.90 per cent in group I and II respectively, while the percentage of animals showing high, medium and low uterine tone was 70, 30, and 0 per cent in group I, 63.63, 36.36 and 0 per cent in group II respectively. It could also be observed that all the animals in which oestrus was induced showed vulval oedema, congestion and sliminess and maximum percentage of these animals showed high tonicity of uterus.

In group I, 30 per cent of animals had purulent discharge, 20 per cent discharge with flakes and in 50 per cent the discharge was cloudy. In group II, the percentage animals with purulent discharge, discharge wich flakes of and cloudy vaginal discharge was 36.36, 18.18 and 45.45 per cent respectively. It may also be noted that in group III, the percentage of animals with purulent discharge was reduced from 27.27 per cent to 18.18 per cent, the percentage of animals with flakes was reduced from 18.18 per cent to 9.09 per cent, and cloudy discharge from 54.54 to 9.09 per cent after treatment. It may also be noted that in group IV, the percentage of animals with purulent discharge was reduced from 50 to 10 per cent after treatment, 30 to 10 per cent in respect of discharge with flakes and 20 per cent and 10 per cent cloudy discharge. The percentage of clear cervical mucous after treatment was, however, 63.63 and 70 per cent in group III and IV respectively.

The common organisms identified were <u>S. aureus</u> (14.28 per cent), coagulase negative staphylococci (9.52 per cent), Bacillus spp. (23.80 per cent), corynebecterium spp (9.52 per cent), pseudomonas (14.28 per cent) and citrobacter (23.84 per cent). It is also interesting to note that in one animal (4.76 per cent) Candida <u>guilliermondii</u> was isolated.

Antibiogram of uterine exudate revealed that 80 per cent was sensitive to gentamicin, followed by chloramphenicol (70 per cent), sulphadiazine and oxytetracycline 55 per cent each. The majority of organisms (80 per cent) were resistant to penicillin.

The number of insemination required for conception in all the four groups varied from 1.77 (group III), 2.2 (group IV), 3.83 (group II) and 5.66 (group I).

The conception rate for first insemination was 30 per cent in group I and II, 50 per cent in group IV and 54.53 per cent in group III. The overall conception rate was found to be 100 per cent in group IV, 81.80 per cent in group III, 54.54 per cent in group II and 30 per cent in group I.

From the foregoing paragraph it could be inferred that the conception rate for first insemination was higher in group III and IV than group I and II. But the overall conception rate in group III and IV did not differ significantly. It would therefore appear that there is no added advantage in improving the fertility by administration of a combination of antibiotic and PGF, alpha, and that the administration of PGF2 alpha alone would be beneficial to improve the overall fertility of the animals. It may further be noted that the number of insemination required for conception was less in group III than that of group IV.

References

REFERENCES

- * Aldermir, N. and Kilicoglu, C. (1986). Treatment of causes of chronic endometritis in cattle with PGF₂ alpha analogues luprostiol and Dinoprost. <u>Veteriner</u> <u>Fakultesi</u> <u>Dergisi</u> 5-6 (1-3, 1-3): 57-60. (Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u> (1990) 60(3): Abst. 314.
- Arthur, G.H., Noakes, D.E. and Pearson, H. (1989). <u>Veterinary reproduction and obstetrics</u>. English Language Book Society, London, Great Britain, 6th Edn., pp. 386-390.
- * Ball, L., Olson, J.D., Mortimer, R.G. (1984). Therapeutic considerations for post- partum bovine uterus. <u>Soc.</u> <u>Theriog</u>. (Lett) 7(1) Cited in "Mechanisms and therapy for retained foetal memberanes and uterine infections of cows: A review." <u>Theriogenology</u> 25(3): 353-381.
- * Barnabe, R.C.(1975). The use of PGF alpha for synchronizing oestrus in cattle. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. 46(11): Abstr. 6762.
- * Barnabe, R.C., Barnabe, V.H. and Mucciolo, R.G. (1978). Use of PGF₂ alpha for oestrus synchronization. Effects according to the site of injection in the genitalia. <u>Anim. Breed. Abstr.</u> **46**(6): abst. 2671.
- Barry, A.L. (1976). <u>The antimicrobial susceptibility test:</u> <u>Principles</u> and practices, Lea and Febiger, Philadelphia, pp. 72-80.
- Bartke, A., Merrill, A. and Baker, C. (1972). Effects of PGF₂ alpha on pseudo pregnancy and pregnancy in mice. Fert. Steril. 23: 543-547.
- * Bartlett, P.C., Kirk, J.H., Wilke, M.A., Kaneene, J.B. and Mather, E.C. (1986). Metritis complex in Michigan Holstein-Friesian cattle; incidence, descriptive epidemiology and estimated economic impact. <u>Preventive Vet. Med</u> 4(3): 235-248. Cited in <u>Vet.</u> <u>Bull</u>. (1987) 57(1): Abst. 434.

- * Becze, J., Perjis, I., Kormoczy, G.S. and Szcitli, J. (1976). Sterility treatment and oestrus synchronization with Enzaprost (PGF, alpha) in cattle. <u>Acta. Vet. hung</u> 26(4): 455-463.Cited in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of suboestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc.Thesis.Kerala Agricultural University.</u>
- * Behrman, H.R., Yoshinga, K. and Greep, R.O. (1971). External effects of prostaglandins. <u>Ann. Ny. Acad.</u> <u>Sci.</u> 180: 426-433.Cited in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of suboestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc.Thesis.Kerala</u> <u>Agricultural University.</u>
- Benjamin, B.R., Yadav, V.K., Ansari, M.R. and Naidu, M.K. (1982). Bacteriological studies on cases of repeat breeders and metritis in bovines. <u>Indian J.</u> <u>Comp.</u> <u>Microbiol.</u> <u>Immunology</u> 3(4): 201-263. Cited in <u>Vet.</u> Bull (1983) 5: 3-8. Abstr. 5485.
- Bierschwal, C.J., Dale, H.E. and Uren, A.W. (1955). The absorption of sulphamethazine by the bovine uterus. J. Am. Vet. Med. <u>Ass</u>. 126: 398-399.
- * Biolatti, B., Bollo, E., Quaranta, G., Vincenti, L., Luini, M., Perini, S. and Fabbi, M. (1991). Biopsy, virological and bacteriological studies on the endometrium of cows with low fertility. <u>Atti</u> <u>della societa Haliana di Buiatria</u> 23: 139-146. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u> (1992) 62(5): 2715.
- * Blatchley, F.R. and Donovan, B.T. (1969). Luteolytic effect of prostaglandin in the guinea pig. <u>Nature</u>, (Lond). 221: 1065-1066.Cited in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of suboestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc.Thesis.Kerala</u> Agricultural University.

- * Boulet, M. (1989). Efficiency of a prostaglandin analogue in the prevention of delayed involution and of endometritis in dairy cows with placentel retention. <u>Bulletin des G.T.V.</u>: 5: 5-12. Cited in Vet. <u>Bull</u>. (1990): 63(3): Abst. 1990.
- * Brand, A., Bois, C.H.W. de and Vandenhende, R. (1975). Indication of prostaglandins in the field of Reproduction in farm animals. <u>Jijdschrift voor</u> <u>Diergenesskunde</u> 100(4): 191-201. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u> (1975): 45(6): 450. Abst. 3364.
- Bretzlaff, K.N., Whitemore, H.L., Spahr, S.L. and Ott, R.S. (1982). Theriogenology 17: 527.
- Bretzlaff, K.N., Ott, R.S. and Koritz, G.D. (1983). Distribution of oxytetracycline in genital tract tissues of post-partum cows given the drug by intravenous and intrauterine routes. <u>Am</u>. J. <u>Vet</u>. Res. 44: 764-769.
 - Burton, M.J., Herschler, R.C., Dziuk, H.E., Fahning, M.L. and Zemjanis, R. (1987). Effect of Fenprostalene on post- partum myometrium in dairy cows with normal or delayed placental expulsion. British Vet. J. 143: 549-554.
 - * Busch, W. (1984). Biotechnical and therapeutic use of prostaglandin F2 alpha in cattle. <u>Vlaams</u> <u>Diergeneeskundig Tijdschrift</u> 53(3): 180-190. Cited in Vet. Bull. (1984): 54(10): Abst. 6746.
 - * Casagrande, J.F. and Goes, N.De.F. (1977). Use of prostaglandin F2 alpha in the treatment of Nelore repeat breeder cows. <u>Cientifica Brazil</u> Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u> (1978) 48(10): Abst. 6276.
 - Chatterjee, A., Kharche, K.G. and Thakur, M.S. (1989). Use of PGF₂ alpha in the treatment of suboestrus in cross-bred cows. <u>Indian J. Anim. Reprod</u>. 10(2): 185-187.

- Chaudhary, S.K., Gupta, R.C. and Uppal, R.P. (1987). Disposition of Trimethoprim-sulphamethoxazole combination following intrauterine administration in experimentally induced metritis condition in buffalo. <u>Theriogenology</u> 28(6): 961-969.
- Chauhan, F.S., Sharma, R.D. and Singh, G.B. (1980). Response of different doses of PGF₂ alpha on oestrus induction and fertility in suboestrous buffaloes. Pap. 2nd All India Symp. Anim. Reprod. Bangalore.
- * Chauhan, F.S., Mgongo, F.O.K. and Kessy, B.M. (1984). Recent advances in hormonal therapy of bovine reproductive disorders: a review. <u>Vet.</u> <u>Bull.</u> 54: 991-1009.
 - * Chauhan, K.R., Chadhry, M.A. and Chaudhry, R.A. (1991). Treatment of endometritis using prostaglandin F2 alpha in Nilli-Ravi buffaloes. <u>Buffalo Bulletin</u> 10(1): 14-17. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u> (1992): 62(7): Abst. 4318.
- Cooper, M.J. (1974). Control of oestrous cycles of heifers with a synthetic prostaglandin analogue. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Rec</u>. 95: 200-203.
- Cooper, M.J. and Furr, B.J.A. (1974). The role of prostaglandins in animal breeding. <u>Vet. Rec</u>. 94: 161.
- * Cooper, M.J. and Rowson, L.E.A. (1975). Control of oestrous cycle in Friesian heifers with ICI 80996. Anim. <u>Breed. Abstr</u>. 44(6): Abst. 2668.
- * Cooper, M.J., Jackson, P.S. and Norman, J.A. (1976). Therapeutic use of prostaglandins in cattle. <u>Economic et Medicine Animals</u> cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. (1977) 47(6): Abst. 3306.
- Coulson, A. (1978). Treatment of Metritis in cattle with PGF₂ alpha. <u>Vet. Rec</u>. 103: 359.

- Coulson, A., Noakes, D.E., Cockrill, T. and Hamer, J. (1979). Plasma progesterone and luteinising hormone levels in cattle after synchronization of oestrus with Dinoprost. <u>Vet.Rec.</u> 105(19): 440-442.
- Cowan, S.T. (1974). <u>Manual for the identification of medical</u> <u>bacteria</u> University Printing House, Cambridge, Great Britain, 2nd Edn. pp. 1-186.
- Cumming, I., Baxter, R.W., White, M.B., McPhee, S.R. and Sullivan, A.P. (1977). Time of ovulation in cattle following treatment with a prostaglandin analogue. Theriogenology 8(4): 184.
- * Cummins, L., Cumming, I., Lauson, R., Findlay, J., Cerini, M. and Hertney, I. (1974). Synchronization of oestrus in cattle with PGF₂ alpha. <u>Anim. Breed</u>. <u>Abstr</u>. 42(9): abst. 3836.
- * David, C. and Bonnier, M. (1987). Bovine chronicendometritis: Bacteriological findings between 1973 and 1985 in 720 samples from 440 herds. <u>Recueil</u> <u>de</u> <u>Medicine veterinaire</u> 163(2): 217. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. Bull (1987): 57(9): Abst. 5969.
- * Day, A.M. (1977). Cloprostenol as an aid in Dairy herd Management I: Mating Management. <u>New Zealand</u> <u>Vet.</u> <u>J</u>. 25: 300-305.Cited in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of subcestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc.Thesis.Kerala</u> <u>Agricultural University.</u>
- * Boulet, M. (1989). Efficiency of a prostaglandin analogue in the prevention of delayed involution and of endometritis in dairy cows with placentel retention. <u>Bulletin des G.T.V.</u>: 5: 5-12. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1990): 63(3): Abst. 1990.
- * Brand, A., Bois, C.H.W. de and Vandenhende, R. (1975). Indication of prostaglandins in the field of Reproduction in farm animals. <u>Jijdschrift</u> voor <u>Diergenesskunde</u> 100(4): 191-201. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u> (1975): 45(6): 450. Abst. 3364.

Bretzlaff, K.N., Whitemore, H.L., Spahr, S.L. and Ott, R.S. (1982). <u>Theriogenology</u> 17: 527.

- Bretzlaff, K.N., Ott, R.S. and Koritz, G.D. (1983). Distribution of oxytetracycline in genital tract tissues of post-partum cows given the drug by intravenous and intrauterine routes. <u>Am</u>. <u>J. Vet</u>. Res. 44: 764-769.
- Burton, M.J., Herschler, R.C., Dziuk, H.E., Fahning, M.L. and Zemjanis, R. (1987). Effect of Fenprostalene on post- partum myometrium in dairy cows with normal or delayed placental expulsion. <u>British Vet.</u> J. 143: 549-554.
- * Busch, W. (1984). Biotechnical and therapeutic use of prostaglandin F2 alpha in cattle. <u>Vlaams</u> <u>Diergeneeskundig Tijdschrift</u> 53(3): 180-190. Cited in Vet. Bull. (1984): 54(10): Abst. 6746.
- * Casagrande, J.F. and Goes, N.De.F. (1977). Use of prostaglandin F2 alpha in the treatment of Nelore repeat breeder cows. <u>Cientifica Brazil</u> Cited in <u>Vet</u>. Bull (1978) **48**(10): Abst. **6**276.
- Chatterjee, A., Kharche, K.G. and Thakur, M.S. (1989). Use of PGF₂ alpha in the treatment of suboestrus in cross-bred cows. <u>Indian J. Anim. Reprod.</u> 10(2): 185-187.
- Chaudhary, S.K., Gupta, R.C. and Uppal, R.P. (1987). Disposition of Trimethoprim-sulphamethoxazole combination following intrauterine administration in experimentally induced metritis condition in buffalo. <u>Theriogenology</u> 28(6): 961-969.
- Chauhan, F.S., Sharma, R.D. and Singh, G.B. (1980). Response of different doses of PGF, alpha on oestrus induction and fertility in suboestrous buffaloes. <u>Pap. 2nd All India Symp. Anim. Reprod. Bangalore.</u>

- * Chauhan, F.S., Mgongo, F.O.K. and Kessy, B.M. (1984). Recent advances in hormonal therapy of bovine reproductive disorders: a review. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. 54: 991-1009.
 - * Chauhan, K.R., Chaudhry, M.A. and Chaudhry, R.A. (1991). Treatment of endometritis using prostaglandin F2 alpha in Nilli-Ravi buffaloes. <u>Buffalo</u> <u>Bulletin</u> 10(1): 14-17. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u> (1992): 62(7): Abst. 4318.
- Cooper, M.J. _(1974). Control of oestrous cycles of heifers with a synthetic prostaglandin analogue. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Rec</u>. 95: 200-203.
- Cooper, M.J. and Furr, B.J.A. (1974). The role of prostaglandins in animal breeding. <u>Vet. Rec.</u> 94: 161.
- * Cooper, M.J. and Rowson, L.E.A. (1975). Control of oestrous cycle in Friesian heifers with ICI 80996. <u>Anim. Breed. Abstr. 44(6): Abst. 2668.</u>
- * Cooper, M.J., Jackson, P.S. and Norman, J.A. (1976). Therapeutic use of prostaglandins in cattle. <u>Economic et Medicine Animals</u> cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1977) 47(6): Abst. 3306.
- Coulson, A. (1978). Treatment of Metritis in cattle with PGF₂ alpha. <u>Vet. Rec</u>. 103: 359.
- Coulson, A., Noakes, D.E., Cockrill, T. and Hamer, J. (1979). Plasma progesterone and luteinising hormone levels in cattle after synchronization of oestrus with Dinoprost. <u>Vet.Rec.</u> 105(19): 440-442.
- Cowan, S.T. (1974). <u>Manual for the identification of medical</u> <u>bacteria</u> University Printing House, Cambridge, Great Britain, 2nd Edn. pp. 1-186.

- Cumming, I., Baxter, R.W., White, M.B., McPhee, S.R. and Sullivan, A.P. (1977). Time of ovulation in cattle following treatment with a prostaglandin analogue. Theriogenology 8(4): 184.
- * Cummins, L., Cumming, I., Lauson, R., Findlay, J., Cerini, M. and Hertney, I. (1974). Synchronization of oestrus in cattle with PGF₂ alpha. <u>Anim</u>. <u>Breed</u>. Abstr. 42(9): abst. 3836.
- * David, C. and Bonnier, M. (1987). Bovine chronicendometritis: Bacteriological findings between 1973 and 1985 in 720 samples from 440 herds. <u>Recueil</u> <u>de</u> <u>Medicine veterinaire</u> 163(2): 217. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. Bull (1987): 57(9): Abst. 5969.
- * Day, A.M. (1977): Cloprostenol as an aid in Dairy herd Management I: Mating Management. <u>New Zealand</u> <u>Vet</u>. <u>J</u>. 25: 300-305.
- Dholakia, P.M., Shah, N.M., Purohit, J.H. and Kher, H.N. (1987). Bacteriological study on non-specific genital infections and its antibiotic spectra in repeat breeders. <u>Indian Vet. J.</u> 64(8): 637-640.
- Dohoo, I.R. and Martin, S.W. (1984). Disease, production and culling in Holstein-Friesian cows. IV. Effects of disease on production. <u>Prev. Vet. Med.</u> 2: 755.
- Drew, S.B. and Gould, C.M. (1980). Fertility of cloprostenol treated dairy cows. <u>Vet. Rec. 107</u>: 88-89.
- Eddy, R.G. (1977). Cloprostenol as a treatment for non visible oestrus and cystic ovarian disease in dairy cows. <u>Vet. Rec.</u> 100: 62-66.
- Eduvie, L.O., Osori, D.I.K., Addo, P.B. and Njoku, C.O. (1984). Bacteriological investigation of postpartum uterus: Relationship to involution and histopathological findings. <u>Theriogenology</u> 21(5): 733-745.

- Eiler, H., Hopkins, F.M., Armstrong, Backus, C.S. and Lyke, W.A. (1984). Uterotonic effect of PGF₂ alpha and oxytocin on the post- partum cow. <u>American</u> J. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Res.</u> 45: 1011-1014.
- Elliot, L., McMohan, K.I., Gier, H.T. and Marion, G.B. (1968). Uterus of cows after parturition: Bacterial content. <u>American. J. Vet. Res.</u> 29: 77-81.
- * Elving, L., Brand, A. and Bois, C.H.W. (1975). Oestrus synchronization and fertility in heifers treated with prostaglandin F2 alpha. <u>Anim. Breed. Abstr.</u> 44(1): abst. 131.
- Erb, H.N., Martin, S.W., Ison, N. and Swaminathan, S. (1981). Interrelationships between production and reproductive diseases in Holstein cows. Conditional relationships between production and disease. J. Dairy Sci. 64(2): 272-281.
- Etherington, W.G., Bosu, W.T.K., Martin, S.W., Cote, J.F., Doig, P.A., Leslie, K.E. (1984). Reproductive performance in dairy cows following post- partum treatment with gonadotrophin releasing hormone and/or prostaglandin: a field trial. <u>Canadian</u> J. <u>Comp. Med.</u> 48: 245-250.
- * Ferreira, A.DE.M. and SA, WF.DE. (1987). Study of uterine infections in dairy cows. <u>Pesquisa</u> <u>Agropecuaria</u> <u>Brasileira</u> 22(3): 339-344. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1988) 58(2): Abst. 7849.
- * Ferreira, A.DEM, Vetromila, M.A.M. and Pires, M.DEF.A. (1988). Efficacy of cloprostenol treatment of uterine infection in cycling cows. <u>Pesquisa</u> <u>Agropecuaria Brasileira</u> 23(4): 423-426. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u> (1989) 59(5): Abst. 2900.
- * Fonseca, F.A., Britt, J.H. McDaniel, B.T., Wilk, J.C. and Rakes, A.H. (1983). J. Dairy Soc. 66: 1128. cited in <u>Veterinary Reproduction</u> and <u>Obstetrics</u> Aurthur, G.H., Noakes, D.E. and Pearson, H. (1989). English Language Book Society, London, Great Britain, 6th Edn. p.387

- Fortin, M.R., Seguin, B.E., Momont, H.W. and Vahdat, F. (1988). Intercestrous intervals in cows after unilateral ovarectomy at cestrus to prevent corpus luteum development. <u>Theriogenology</u> 29, 1357-1365.
- * Francos, G. (1979). Relationship between the incidence of endometritis and repeat breeders in dairy herds. <u>Refuah Veterinarith</u> 36(4): 131-134. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. (1981) 51(6): Abst. 3097.
- Frank, T., Anderson, K.L. and Smith, A.R. (1983). Phagocytosis in the uterus: A review. <u>Theriogenology</u> 20: 103-110.
- * Furr, B.J.A., Cooper, M.J., Jackson, P.S., Hart, I.C. and Pope, G.S. (1981). Effects of cloprostenol and PGF₂ alpha on secretion of follicle stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, prolactin, growth hormone, thyroxine and cortisol in heifers. <u>Act. Vet. Scand. suppl.</u> 77, 55-69.Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs". <u>Vet. Bull</u> 61(5): 433-443
- * Ganeswaran, K. and Patil, R.V. (1975). Control of oestrous cycle in heifers with PGF₂ alpha. <u>Ceylon Vet. J.</u> 23(2): 23-24.Cited in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of suboestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc.Thesis.Kerala</u> <u>Agricultural</u> <u>University.</u>
- Garcia-villar, R., Marnet, P.G., Lauventiè, M.P and Toutain, P.L. (1987). Fenprostalene in cattle. Evaluation of oxytocic effects in ovarectomized cows and abortion potential in a 100-day pregnant cow. <u>Theriogenology</u> 28, 467-480.
- Ghosh, K.N.A., Chandramohan, V., Nair, K.P. and Namboodiripad, T.R.B. (1980). A note on the technique of endometrial biopsy. <u>Kerala</u> J. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Sci</u>. 11(2): 238-241.
- Gilbert, R.O. (1992). Bovine endometritis. The burden of proof. <u>Cornell. Vet.</u> 82(1): 11-13.

- Ginther, O.J. (1968). Utero-ovarian relationship in cattle, physiological and applied veterinary aspects. <u>J</u>. <u>Am. vet. Med. Ass</u>. 153: 1656.
- * Greve, T. (1976). Induction of oestrus in cows by intrauterine injection of PGF, alpha. <u>Arsberetning</u> Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1978). **48**(6): Abst. 3851.
- Guedawy, S.A., Neff-Davis, C.A. and Davis, L.E. (1983). Disposition of gentamicin in the genital tract of cows. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Therap. 6: 85-92.
- Guilbault, L.A., Thatcher, W.W., Drost, M. and Haibel, G.K. (1987). Influence of a physiological infusion of PGF₂ alpha into post- partum cows with partially suppressed endogenous production of prostaglandins. 1. Uterine and ovarian Morphological responses. Theriogenology 27, 931-946.
- Gupta, K.P., Farroqui, S.U. and Pant, H.C. (1978). Synchronization of oestrus in cattle and buffaloes with ICI 80996 and analogue of PGF₂ alpha. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Res. Bull</u>. 1(7): 103-105.
- * Gustafsson, B.K and Ott, R.S. (1981). Current trends in the treatment of genital infections in large animals. <u>Comp. Cont.</u> <u>Ed.Prac.Vet</u> .3:147-151.Cited in "Mechanisms and therapy for retained foetal memberanes and uterine infections of cows: A review." <u>Theriogenology</u> 25(3): 353-381
- Gustafsson, B.K. (1984). Therapeutic strategies involving antimicrobial treatment of the uterus in large animals. J. Am. Vet. Med. Ass. 185(10): 1194-1197.
- * Gutnecht, G.D., Cornette, J. and Pharris, B.B. (1971). The effect of PGF₂ alpha on ovarian and plasma progesterone levels in the pregnant hamster. <u>Proc.</u> <u>Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.</u> 136: 1151-1157.Cited in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of suboestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc.Thesis.Kerala Agricultural University.</u>

- Haaland, M.A. (1984). Antibiotic residues in milk after intrauterine infusions. Vet. Med. 79: 79-81.
- Hafs, H.D. and Manns, J.G. (1975) Onset of oestrus and fertility of dairy heifers and suckled beef cows treated with PGF₂ alpha. <u>Anim. Prod. 21(1): 13-20.</u>
- Hardenbrook, H.Jr. (1958). The diagnosis and treatment of non specific infections of the bovine uterus and cervix. J. Am. Vet. Med. Ass. 132(11): 459-464.
- Hartigan, P.J., Griffin, J.F.T. and Nunn, W.R. (1974). Non specific uterine infection and bovine fertility. I. Infection patterns and endometritis during the first seven weeks post-partum. <u>Theriogenology</u> 1: 91-106.
- Hearnshaw, H. (1976). Synchronization of oestrus and subsequent fertility in cattle using the prostaglandin F2 alpha analogue. ICI (80996) (cloprostenol). <u>Australian. J. Expt. Agri. Anim.</u> <u>Husb. 16(81): 437-444.</u>
- * Henderson, K.M.and McNatty, K.P. (1975). Prostaglandins (9): 779. Cited in <u>Veterinary Reproduction and</u> <u>Obstetrics</u> Arthur G.H., Noakes, D.E. and Pearson, H. (1989). English Language Book Society, London, Great Britain, 6th Edn. p. 9.
- Hinze, P.M. (1959). Diagnosis and treatment of non specific infertility in the dairy cow. <u>J. Am. Vet. Med. Ass.</u> 134(2): 302-307.
- * Hoffman, B., Schams, D. and Karg, H. (1976). Cyclic synchronization under hormonal control. <u>Anim.</u> <u>Breed. Abstr</u>. 45(1): Abst. 1276.
- Iyer; C.P.N., Nair, K.P., Sudarsanan, V., Madhavan, E., Mathai, E., Nair, M.S., Vijayakumar, V. and Joseph, M. (1992). Reproductive disorders of cross-bred cows of Kerala. Indian J. Anim. Reprod. 13(1): 65-68.

- Jackson, P.S. (1977). Treatment of chronic post-partum endometritis in cattle with cloprostenol. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Rec</u>. 101(22): 441-443.
- Jackson, P.S., Johnson, C.T., Furr, B.J. and Beattie, J.F. (1979). Influence of stage of oestrous cycle on time of oestrus following cloprostenol treatment in the bovine. Theriogenology 12(3): 153-167.
- Jayappa, G.H. and Loken, K.I. (1983). Distribution of oxytetracycline in the healthy and diseased postpartum genital tract of cows. <u>American</u>. J. <u>Vet</u>. Re<u>s</u>. 44: 760-763.
- Jochle, W., Kuzmanov, D., Vujosevic, J. (1982). Oestrous cycle synchronization in dairy heifers with the prostaglandin analog alfa prostol. <u>Theriogenology</u>, 18: 215-225.
- * Kelton, D.F. (1989). Management of suboestrous cows using rectal palpation, a milk progesterone enzyme immuno assay and three prostaglandins. <u>M.Sc. Thesis,</u> <u>University of Guelph</u>, pp. 25-99. Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive Herd health programs", <u>Vet</u>. Bull. (1991) 6(5): 433-443.
- Keyes, P.L. and Bullock, D.W. (1974). Effects of PGF, alpha on ectopic and ovarian corpora lutea of the fabbit. Biol. <u>Reprod.</u> 10: 519-525.
- * Khan, M.A., Hussain, I., Ashfaque, M. and Ahmad, K.M. (1990). Studies on the bacteriology of Metritis with special reference to Brucella in buffaloes and cows. <u>Pakistan vet. J.</u> 10(4): 157-168. Cited in Vet. Bull. (1992) 62(9): Abst. 5785.
- Kharade, S.B. and Kulharni, V.G.P. (1983). Antibiotic sensitivity test with cervico vaginal microflora of normal and repeat breeder cows of Bombay dairy farms. <u>Indian J. Comp. Microbiol</u>. <u>Immunol</u>. <u>Infect</u>. <u>Dis</u>. 4(1): 16-18.

- * Kindahl, H., Fredriksson, G., Madej, A. and Edqvist, L.E. (1984). Role of PGF₂ alpha in uterine involution. <u>Proc. 10th Int. Congr. Anim. Reprod. AI. IV, X19-X124. Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs" <u>Vet. Bull.</u> (1991) 6(5):433-443</u>
- * Ko, C.H., Chen, Z.Y., Whitmore, H.L., Mckenna, D.J., Brodie, B.O., Gustafsson, B.K. (1985). The effect of prostaglandin on myometrial activity in postpartum cows. <u>Abstracts of papers at the 66th Annual</u> <u>Meeting of the Conference of Research Workers in</u> <u>Animal Disease p.7</u> Cited. in: A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in Dairy Reproductive Herd Health Programms. <u>Vet. Bull</u>. 1991. 61(5): 435
- * Koleff, W.K., Bodganoff, M.P. and Weneff, St.A. (1973). Comparative studies on the efficacy of various antibiotics in the treatment of bovine endometritis. <u>Tierarztliche Umschau</u> 28(2): 80-84. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1973) 43(6): 2631.
- * Kremlev, E.P. and Banakova, L.A. (1979). Treatment of mycotic endometritis in cows. <u>Veterinariya</u>. 4: 45-46. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. Bull. (1979). 49(10): Abst. 5948.
- * Kruif, A.De. and Brand, A. (1976). Treatment of suboestrus in cattle with prostaglandins. <u>Anim.</u> <u>Breed. Abstr.</u> 44(10): Abst. 4749.
- * Kudryavtsev, V.A., Safronova, L.A., Kozahko, I.A., Osodchaya, A.I. and Lyubetskii, V.I., Yukhimchik., S.K. and Polishchuk, V.P. (1991). Microbial flora in bovine purulent and catarrhal endometritis. <u>Mikrobiologcheskiizhurnal</u> 53(2): 3-9. Cited in <u>Vet.</u> <u>Bull.</u> (1992). 62(6): 2954.

- * Kuz'mich, R.G., Cheredkov, S.N. and Botyanovskii, A.G. (1987). Effectiveness of magnetic field impulses against uterine subinvolution and endometritis in cows. <u>Veterinarya Nauka-proizvodstvu</u> 25: 138-140. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1988): <u>58</u>(11): 7194.
- * Labhsetwar, A.P. (1971). Luteolysis and ovulation induced by PGF alpha in the Hamster. <u>Nature</u>. <u>Lond</u>. 230: 528-553.
- Lauderdale J.W. (1972). Effects of PGF₂ alpha on pregnancy and oestrous cycle of cattle. J. Anim. Sci. 35: 246.
- * Lauderdale, J.W. (1975). The use of prostaglandins in cattle. Anim. Breed. Abst. 44(6): Abst. 2692.
- * Leidl, W., Bostett, H., Stolla, R., Kutin, A. and Schefel, S.W. (1978). The effect of PGF, alpha and clinical experience with analogue estrumate specially in anoestrus in cows. <u>Anim. Breed. Abstr. 47(7): 3601.</u>
- Liehr, R.A. and Marion, G.B. (1972). Effects of prostaglandin on cattle cestrous cycles. <u>Journal</u> <u>Anim. Sci. 35: 247-248.</u>
- * Lindel, J.O. and Kindahl, H. (1983). Exogenous PGF₂ alpha promotes uterine involution in the cow. <u>Act. Vet.</u> <u>Scand</u>. 24: 269-274. Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs.<u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1991) 61(5):435
- Louis, T.M., Hafs, H.D. and Morrow, D.A. (1972).Oestrus and ovulation after uterine PGF₂ alpha in cows. <u>J</u>. <u>Anim. Sci</u>. 35: 247-248.
- Louis, T.M., Hafs, H.D. and Seguin, B.E. (1973). Progesterone, LH, Oestrus and ovulation after PGF₂ alpha in heifers. <u>Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.</u> 143: 152-155. Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs.<u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1991) 61(5):434

- Louis, T.M., Hafs, H.D. and Morrow, D.A. (1974). Intrauterine PG in cows. Progesterone, L.H., oestrus and ovulation. J. Anim. Sci. 38: 347-353.
- Lovie, V.A., Poncelet, G.R., Han, D.K., Soliday, C.L., Lambert, P.W. and Moody, E.L. (1975). Effects of PGF₂ alpha on the oestrous cycle. Corpora lutea and progesterone levels of hysterectomized cows. <u>J</u>. Anim. Sci. 41(1): 166-171.
- * Lusky, K., Busch, W., Papenthin, V., Katzer, F. and Marx, H.J. (1985). Economic evaluation of prostaglandin F2 alpha for treating reproductive disorders in ows. <u>Monatshefte fur veterinarmedizin</u> 40(4): 127-29.Cited in <u>Vet.Bull</u>(1985)55(6).Abst.3760
- MacMillan, K.L., Curnow, R.J. and Morris, G.R. (1978). Oestrus synchronization with PGF₂ alpha. <u>New Zealand. Vet. J.</u> 26: 96-98.
- Macmillan, K.L. (1983). Prostaglandin responses in dairy herd breeding programmes. <u>New Zealand Vet. J.</u> 31: 110-113.
- Madej, A., Kindahl, H., Woyno, W.E., Edquist, L.E., Stupnicki, R. (1984). Blood levels of 15-Keto-13, 14-dihydro-prostaglandin F2 alpha during the postpartum period in primiparous cows. <u>Theriogenology</u> 21: 279-287.
- * Malik, S.Z., Chaudhary, M.A., Ahmad, N. and Rehman, N. (1987). Effect of different antibiotics in the treatment of infection in repeat breeding cows in Faisalabad and Toba tek singh districts. <u>Pakistan</u> <u>Vet.</u> J. 7(2): 60-61. Cited in <u>Vet.</u> <u>Bull</u>. (1988) 58(9) Abst. 5658.
- * Maneta, M., Elezov, G., Angelov, A. and Stoev, S. (1990). Clinical and Morphological changes in reproductive organs of infertile cows due to chronic inflammatory processes. <u>Veterinarna sbirka</u> 88(7-8): 60-63. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. (1991) 61(4): Abst. 2930.

- Martinez, J. and Thibier, M. (1984). Reproductive disorders in dairy cattle. II. Interrelationships between pre or post service infections and functional disorders. <u>Theriogenology</u> 21(4): 583-589.
- Masera, J., Gustafsson, B.K., Afiefy, M.M., Stowe, C.M. and Berzt, G.P. (1980). Disposition of oxytetracycline in the bovine genital tract. Systemic Vs. intrauterine administration. J. Am. Vet. Med. Ass. 176 10(2): 1099-1102.
- Mazumdar, N.C., Chakrabarty, A.N., Kanjilal B., Chatterjee, A. and Bhattacharyay, H.M. (1985). Studies on Histopathology of uterus of metritis cases in slaughtered cows and correlation with the bacterial isolates. Ist Asian Congr. Anim. Reprod. Bombay Dec. 1985. Indian J. Anim. Reprod. (1985). 6(2): 121.
- Minocha, H.C., Marion, G.B., Gier, S.T. and Mac Mohan, K.J. (1964). An instrument for obtaining aseptic bacteriologic and histologic samples from the bovine genital tract. <u>Am</u>. J. <u>Vet. Res</u>. 25; 1051-1057.
- Misra, P.K. and Mishra, A. (1987). Infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus infection and infertility in cows, heifers and bulls. <u>Indian</u> <u>J. Anim. Sci.</u> 57(4): 267-271. Cited in <u>Vet Bull</u>. (1987) 57(10): Abst. 6356.
- * Moberg, R. (1952). <u>Rep. 2nd. Int. Congr. Physiol. Path.</u> <u>Anim. Reprod. AI. Copenhagen</u>.Cited in"Treatment of chronic post-partum endometritis in cattle with Cloprostenol. <u>Vet.Rec.(1977)101.441</u>.

. .

Momont, H.W. and Seguin, B.E. (1984). Influence of oestrous cycle on response to PGF, alpha products. Implications of AI programs for dairy cattle. Proc. <u>19th Inter. Cong. Anim. Reprod. AI III.</u> 336-338.Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs.Vet. Bull. (1991) 61(5):435

- * Moore, N.W. (1976). The use of prostaglandin F2 alpha given by either intrauterine infusion or by intramuscular injection for the control of oestrus and ovulation in cattle. <u>Anim. Breed. Abstr.</u> 44(6): Abst. 2699.
- Murray, R.D., Allison, J.D. and Gard, R.P.(1990). Bovine endometritis: Comparative efficacy of alpha prostol and intrauterine therapies and other factors influencing clinical success. <u>Vet. Rec</u>. 127(4): 86-90.
- Murty, T.S. and Rao, A.V.N. (1979). Antibiotic sensitivity of microbes from uterine infections of buffaloes. Indian Vet. J. 56(9): 804.
- Nair, K.P. and Raja, C.K.S.V.(1977). Inflammatory leisons in the uterus of cows. <u>Indian</u> J. <u>Anim. Sci.</u> 45(12): 958-961.
- Nair, R.R. and Madhavan, E. (1984). Prostaglandin administration on oestrus induction and fertility in suboestrous cows. <u>Indian J. Anim. Reprod</u>. 5(1): 33-35.
- * Nakahara, T., Kaneda, Y., Domeke, I. and Yamauchi, M. (1974). Oestrus synchronization in the cow by intra uterine injection of PGF₂ alpha. <u>Jap. J.</u> <u>Anim. Reprod.</u> 20(2): 62-66.Cited² in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of suboestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc.Thesis.Kerala</u> Agricultural University.
- * Nakahara, T., Domeki, I. and Kaneda, Y. (1975). Synchronization of oestrus in cow following intramuscular PGF₂ alpha. Jap. J. Anim. Reprod. 21(1): 23-27.Cited in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of suboestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc. Thesis Kerala Agricultural</u> <u>University.</u>

- Namboodiripad, T.R.B., Raja, C.K.S.V. and Abdulla, P.K. (1976). In vitro antbiotic susceptibility of isolates from the uterus and the efficacy of intrauterine treatment in repeat breeder cows. <u>Kerala Vet. J.</u> 7(1): 57-61.
- Narasimhan, K.S. (1987). Clinical trials of nitrofurazone and urea (Metrea bolus) in the treatment of puerperal metritis in corss-bred cows. <u>Indian</u> <u>Vet</u>. <u>J.</u> 64(2): 171-172.
- * Navarro, N. (1986). Possible influence of season on the rates of placental retention and post-partum endometritis in cattle. <u>Revista cubana</u> deciencias <u>veterinarius</u> 17(314): 109-114. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. 1987 57(12): 7884
- * Opdenbosch, E. Van, Wellemans, G., Antonie, H., Broes, A. and Charlier, G. (1984). Chronic endometritis in cows, associated with various symptoms, Role of an immuno suppressive herpes virus. <u>Vlaams</u> <u>Diergeneeskundig Tijdschrift</u> 53(1): 21-30. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. (1984). 54(6): 3626.
- * Ott, R.S. and Gustafsson, B.K. (1981). Therapeutic application of Prostaglandins for post-partum infections. <u>Act. Vet. Scand</u> (Suppl. 77) : 363-369.Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs. <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1991) 61(5):435
- Oxender, W.D., Noden, P.A., Louis, T.M. and Hafs, H.D. 1974). A review of prostaglandin F2 alpha for ovulation control in cows and mares. <u>American</u>. J. <u>Vet. Res</u>. 35: 997-1001.
- * Oxender, W.D. and Seguin, B.E. (1975). Some potential uses of prostaglandins in domestic animals. <u>Bovine</u> <u>Practitioner</u> 10: 2-4, 6.Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs. <u>Vet. Bull</u>.(1991) 61(5):435

- Oxender, W.D. and Seguin, B.E. (1976). Bovine intra uterine therapy. J. Am. Vet. Med. Ass. 168(3): 217-219.
- Paisley, L.G. Mickelsen, W.D. and Anderson, P.B. (1986). Mechanisms and therapy for retained fetal membranes and uterine infections of cows: A review. <u>Theriogenology</u> 25(3): 353-381.
- Pant, H.C., Singh, G.D., Upadhyay, M.P. and Saxena, A. (1991). Prostaglandins in female animal reproduction: A review. <u>Indian J. Anim. Reprod.</u> 13(1): 4-15.
- Peters, J.B., Welch, J.A., Lauderdale, J.W. and Inskeep, E.K. (1977). Synchronization of oestrus in meef cattle with PGF₂ alpha and oestradiol benzoate. <u>J.</u> <u>Anim. Sci.</u> 45(2): 230-235.
- * Pharris, B.B. and Wyngarden, L.J. (1969). The effect of prostaglandin F2 alpha on the progestogen content of ovaries from pseudo-pregnant rats. <u>Proc. Soc.</u> <u>Exp. Biol. Med.</u> 130: 93-94.Cited in "Prostaglandin administration in improving the breeding effciency of suboestrous cows." <u>M.V.Sc.Thesis.Kerala</u> Agricultural University.
- * Philipsen, H. and Rasbech, N.O. (1974). The use of PGF₂ alpha for oestrus synchronization in heifers. <u>Anim</u>. <u>Breed. Abstr</u>. **42**(4): Abst. 1432.
- Rao, M.N., Puthanniali and Seshadri, S.J. (1983). Studies on the incidence of infertility in cross-bred cattle in Hassan district of Karnataka. <u>Indian</u> J. Anim. Reprod. 1: 63-69.
- Rao, N.A.V. and Kotayya, K. (1976). Incidence of reproductive disorders in cross-bred cows in Andhra Pradesh. Indian Vet.J. 53(2): 156-157.
- * Riznar, S., Matarugic, D. and Misic, J. (1979). Control and treatment of post partum and chronic endometritis (in cows) by the induction of oestrus. <u>Veterinariski Glasnik</u> 33(7): 533-541. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. (1980) 50(10). Abst. 6780.

- Roberts, S.J. (1956). An evaluation of uterine infusion for the treatment of infertility in cattle. <u>Cornell</u>. <u>Vet</u>. 46: 21-38.
- Roberts, S.J. (1971). <u>Veterinary Obsetrics and Genital</u> <u>diseases</u>, CBS Publihsers and Distributers (India), New Delhi, 2nd edn. pp. 476-483.
- Roche, J.F. (1974). Synchronization of oestrus and fertility following artificial Insemination in heifers given PGF₂ alpha. <u>J. Reprod. Fert.</u> **37**(1): 135-138.
- Roche, J.F. (1977). Control of ovulation and fixed time insemination in heifers following cloprostenol. <u>Vet. Rec.</u> 100(22): 468-470.
- *Rose, R. (1987). Endometritis in cows: Results of laboratory tests during a regional investigation of endometritis. <u>Recueil de Medecine veterinaire</u> 163(2): 211-213. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1987): 57(9): Abst. 5968.
- Rowson, L.E.A., Lamming, G.E. and Fry, R.M. (1953). The relationship between ovarian hormones and uterine infection. <u>Vet. Rec. 65(2): 335-340.</u>
- Rowson, L.E.A., Tervit, R. and Brand, A. (1972). The use of prostaglandins for synchronization of oestrus in cattle. J. <u>Reprod. Fert</u>. 29: 145.
- Roy, G.P., Prasad, K.M., Akhtar, N.K. and Singh, A. (1990). Trials of Dinofertin in different types of reproductive disorders. <u>Indian Vet</u>. <u>J</u>. 67(11): 1086-1987.
- Sande, M.A. and Mandell, G.I. (1980). Antimicrobial agents -Tetracycline and chloramphenicol. In: <u>The</u> <u>pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics</u>. Gilman, A.G., Goodman, L.S. and Gilman, A. (eds) MacMillan Pub. Co., New York, pp. 1080-1105.

- Sato, T., Taya, K., Jyujo, T., Hirono, M. and Igarashi, M. (1974). The stimulatory effect of prostaglandins on luteinizing hormone release. <u>American</u> J. <u>Obstet</u>. <u>Gynaec</u>. 118: 875-876.
- *Savov, N. and Dimitrov, D. (1973). Microbial agents and treatment of endometritis in cows <u>Veterinarnomeditsinski</u> <u>Nauki Bulgaria</u> 10(10): 21-28. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. (1974): 44(8): Abst. 3997.
- Schams, D. and Karg, H. (1982). Hormonal responses following treatment with different prostaglandin analogues for oestrous cycle regulation in cattle. <u>Theriogenology</u> 17: 499-513.
- Schultz, R.H. (1980). Experiences and problems associated with usage of prostaglandins in countries other than the United States. J. Am. Vet. Med.Ass. 176: 1182-1186.
- Seguin, B.E., Morrow, D.A., and Louis, T.M. (1974). Luteolysis, Luteostasis, and the effect of prostaglandin F2 alpha in cows after endometrial irrigation. <u>American</u> J. Vet. Res. 35: 57-61.
- Seguin, B.E. and Gustafsson (1978). Use of PGF₂ alpha analogue in dairy cattle with unobserved destrus. <u>Theriogenology</u> 10: 54-65.
- Seguin, B.E. (1979). Comparative luteolytic activity of oestradiol cyclopentyl propionate and PGF₂ alpha in dioestrous cows. <u>Theriogenology</u> 11: 445-452.
- Seguin, B.E. (1980). Role of prostaglandins in bovine reproduction. J. <u>Am. Vet. Med. Ass.</u> 176: 1178-1181.
- Seguin, B.E., Momont, H. and Baumann, L. (1985). Cloprostenol and Dinoprost tromethamine in experimental and field trials treating unobserved oestrus in dairy cows. <u>Bovine Practnr.</u> 20: 85-90.Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs. Vet. Bull. (1991) 61(5):435

- *Seveik, B., Kral, J., Strakova, J., Bilek, P. and Nastuneak, J. (1982). Therapeutic use of the preparation oestrophan inj. (Cloprostenol) in anoestrus and endometritis in cows. <u>Biologizace</u> <u>achemizace zivocisne Vyroby</u> 18(4): 349-355. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1983): 53(1): Abst. 666.
- Sharda, R., Moghe, M.N. and Tanwani, S.K. (1991). Antibiotic sensitivity pattern of bacteria isolated from repeat breeding animals. <u>Indian Vet</u>. J. 68(3): 197-200.
- Sharma, O.P., Singh B.P. and Tomar, N.S. (1968). Studies on oestrous cycle in Haryana cows. <u>Indian</u> <u>Vet. J</u>. 45: 1014-1022.
- Shelton, S.N. (1973). PGF₂ alpha for synchronization in beef cattle. <u>Australian Vet. J.</u> 49: 442-444.
- Singh, G.B., Dugwekar, Y.G., Sharma, R.D., Chauhan, F.S. and Singh, M. (1979). Treatment of suboestrus in buffaloes with PGF₂ alpha. <u>Vet. Rec.</u> 104: 412-413.
- Singh, J. and Singh, B.K. (1985). Studies on certain factors influencing conception rate in cows. Proc. Ist Asian Congr. Anim. Reprod. <u>Indian J. Anim. Reprod.</u> 6(2): 129.
- Singh, K.C.P., Pandey, J.N., Sinha, M.N. Prasad, C.B., Prasad, C.R. and Singh, S.S. (1989). Studies on genital microflora of repeat-breeder cows. <u>Indian</u> <u>Vet. Med. J.</u> 13(1): 61-63.
- Singh, L.P., Sadiku, A. and Verma, O.P. (1979). PGF alpha induced response of the bovine ovary, oviduct (uterine tube) and uterus. <u>American J.Vet</u>. <u>Res</u>. 40: 1789-1791.
- Sinha, A.K., Arneja, D.V. and Singh, B.K. (1977). Antibiotic sensitivity test and treatment of endometritis in cows. Indian Vet. J. 54(7): 528-532.

- Steffan, J., Adriamanga, S. and Thibier, M. (1984). Treatment of Metritis with antibiotics or prostaglandin F2 alpha and influence of ovarian activity in dairy cows. <u>American</u> J. <u>Vet. Res.</u> 45(6): 1090-1094.
- Studer, E. and Holtan, A. (1986). Treatment of retained placentas in dairy cattle with prostaglandin. <u>Bovine Practnr</u>. 21: 159-160. Cited in "A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs.<u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1991) 61(5):435
- Studer, E. and Morrow, D.A. (1978). Post-partum evaluation of bovine reproductive potential: Comparison of findings from genital tract Examination per rectum. Uterine culture, and endometrial biopsy. J. Am. Vet. Med. Ass. 172(4): 489-494.
- Stotts, J., Stumpf, T., Day, M., Wolfe, M., Wolfe, P., Kittok, R., Nielson, M., Deutscher, G. and Kinder, J. (1987). Luteinizing hormone and progesterone concentrations in serum of heifers administered a short half-life prostaglandin (PGF, alpha)or long half-life prostaglandin analogue (fenprostalene) on day six or eleven of the oestrous cycle. <u>Theriogenology</u> 28: 523-529.
- *Sudhakar, R., Reddy, A.R.M., Reddy, P.K., Rao, G.N. and Reddy, P.R. (1986). Treatment of endometritis in cross-bred cattle based on <u>in vitro</u> antibiotic sensitivity tests. <u>Livestock</u> <u>adviser</u> cited in <u>Vet</u>. Bull. 57(7): Abst. 4502.
- *Swensson, T. (1979). Insemination of dairy heifers after synchronization by means of cloprostenol analogue, Estrumate. <u>Anim. Breed. Abstr</u>. 47(7): Abst. 3631.
- Tennant, B. and Peddicord, R.G. (1968). The influence of delayed uterine involution and endometritis in bovine fertility. <u>Cornell</u> <u>Vet. LVIII(2): 185-192.</u>

- *Tsakalof, P., Fouskos, A., MPaskos, K., Saratsis, F. and Samouilidou, G. (1987). Treatment of chronic endometritis in cow with PGF, alpha. <u>Bull</u>. of the <u>Hellanic Vet. Med. Soc.</u> 38(3): 146-154. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1988) 58(5): Abst. 2901.
- *Uwland, J. (1978). Experience with cloprostenol (Estrumate) in cows. <u>Tijdschrift voor</u> <u>Diergeneeskunde</u> 103 9:480-1484. Cited in <u>Vet</u>. <u>Bull</u>. (1978) 48(10): 881. Abst. 6277.
- Vahida, A.M. (1992). Treatment of endometritis for improving fertility in dairy cows. <u>M.V.Sc. Thesis</u>, <u>Kerala</u> <u>Agricultural University</u>, pp. 1-63.
- *Vandeplassche, M. (1984). Stimulation and inhibition of phagocytosis in domestic animals. <u>Proc. Xth</u> <u>Int.</u> <u>Congr. Anim. Reprod. AI</u>. Urbana-Chempaign III: 475. Cited in "Mechanisms and therapy for retained foetal memberanes and uterine infections of cows: A review." <u>Theriogenology</u> 25(3): 353-381
- Varadarajan, M. (1985). Efficacy of intrauterine administration of gentamicin in the treatment of clinical endometritis in cross-bred cattle. M.V.Sc. Thesis, <u>Kerala Agricultural University</u>, pp. 1-64.
- Varadarajan, M. and Nair, K.P. (1989). Efficacy of intrauterine infusion of gentamicin alone or in combination with stilboesterol in the treatment of endometritis in cow. J. Vet. Anim. Sci. 21(1): 83-86.
- Venkateswaran, K.V. and Rajeswar, J.J. (1991). Antibiotic sensitivity pattern of micro organisms causing infertility among cattle in Kanyakumari district of Tamil Nadu. <u>Indian Vet</u>. J. 68(2): 187-188.

- * Venkateswarlu, T., Krishna Swamy, S. and Rao, A. (1983a). Bacterial flora of endometritis and their <u>in vitro</u> sensitivity to antibacterial drugs. <u>Trop. Vet.</u> <u>Anim. Sci. Res</u>. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1983). 53(9): Abst. 6014.
- Venkateswarlu, T., Rao, A.R. and Krishnaswamy, S. (1983b). Treatment of endometritis in cows and buffaloes based on <u>in vitro</u> sensitivity pattern of bacterial isolates. Indian Vet. J. 60(6): 487-489.
- Villeneuve, P., Dufour, J.J. and Guilbault, L.A. (1987). Influence of an infusion of PGF₂ alpha and weaning on histological population of ovarian follicles in early post-partum beef cows. J. <u>Anim. Sci.</u> 65(suppl) 368-369.
- VonHaam and Rosenfeld, I. (1942). J. <u>Immunology</u> 43: 109.Cited in"Treatment of chronic post-partum endometritis in cattle with Cloprostenol. <u>Vet.Rec.</u>(1977)101.441.
- * Vukovic, D., Jaksic, Z., Erski-Biljic, G. and Petrujkic, T. (1989). Use of prostaglandin (PGF₂ alpha) and a PGF₂ alpha analogue for treatment of chronic endometritis. <u>Veterinariski vilasnik</u> 43(5): 461-465. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1990): 66(3): Abst. 1992.
- * Wellemans, G., Antoine, H., Broes, A., Charlier, G. and Opdenbosch, E. Van (1983). Isolation of a herpes virus from cattle with metritis after parturition. <u>Annals de Medecine Veterinaire</u> 127(6): 481-482. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1984). 54(4): 1582.
- Wenzel (1991). A review of prostaglandin F products and their use in dairy reproductive herd health programs. <u>Vet. Bull</u> 61(5): 433-443.
- Whitacre, M.D. (1992). Intrauterine infusion in the postpartum diary cow. <u>Vet</u>. Med. 87(4): 376-381.
- Wichtel, J.J. (1991). When and why prostaglandins are used in post-partum dairy cows. <u>Vet</u>. <u>Med</u>. 86(6): 647-651.



- Young, I.M. (1984). Increased conception rate in dairy cows after early post-partum administration of PGF₂ alpha. THAM Vet .Rec. 155: 429-431.
- Young, I.M. (1989). Response of Dinoprost in the bovine early post-partum period. <u>Vet. Rec.</u> 124(19): 511-512.
- Youngquist, R.S. and Braun, W.F. (1986). Management of infertility in the cow. J. Am. Vet. Med. Ass. 189: 411-414.
- * Zezula-Szpysa, A., Glazer, T., Zdunezyk,S., Ras, A., Kucharski, J., Janowski, T. and Chmiel, J. (1988). Studies on some factors influencing the prevalence of endometritis in cows in the post-partum period. <u>Acta</u> <u>Academiae</u> <u>Agriculturae</u> <u>ac</u> <u>Technicae</u> <u>olstenensis</u> 18(336): 95-102. Cited in <u>Vet. Bull</u>. (1990): 60(2): Abst. 1122,
- * Ziv, G. (1980). Review of pharmacology of antimicrobial drugs employed in vet. obstetrics in proc. 9th Int. <u>Congr. Anim. Reprod.</u> 2:463-471. Cited in "Mechanisms and therapy for retained foetal memberanes and uterine infections of cows: A review." <u>Theriogenology</u> 25(3): 353-381
- Ziv, G., Paape, M.J. and Dulan, A.M. (1983). Influence of antibiotics and intramammary antibiotics products on phagocytosis of <u>Staphylococcus aureus</u> by bovine leukocytosis. <u>American. J. Vet. Res.</u> 41: 385-388.
- * Zuber, H. (1980). Practical experiences with the prostaglandin analogue estrumate for the treatment of endometritis in cattle.<u>Deutsche Tierarzt liche</u> <u>Wochenschrift</u> 87(1): 8-9. Cited in <u>Vet.Bull</u> (1980) 50(10): Abst. 902.

* References not consulted in original

PROSTAGLANDIN THERAPY FOR POST PARTUM CLINICAL ENDOMETRITIS

By

T. C. JACOB

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree

Master of Peterinary Science

Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Kerala Agricultural University

Department of Animal Reproduction COLLEGE OF VETERINARY AND ANIMAL SCIENCES Mannuthy - Thrissur

1993

ABSTRACT

The object of the investigation was to evaluate the therapeutic values of PGF₂ alpha, for evolving a non antibiotic alternative for the treatment of post partum clinical endometritis.

For this, 42 cross-bred cows, belonging to University Livestock Farm, Mannuthy, having post partum clinical endometritis were divided into four groups. Group Ι consisted of 10 animals which were watched for their natural cestrus and inseminated twice at 24 hours interval. In group II, 11 animals were observed for their natural oestrus and inseminated twice at 24 hours interval and were given post insemination intrauterine antibiotic treatment 24 hours later based on antibiotic sensitivity test. Eleven animals in group III were subjected to induction of oestrus by administration of PGF₂ alpha (Lutalyse) 25 mg intramuscular 8-12 days of their cycle and inseminated twice at 24 hours, at the induced oestrus. Group IV consisted of 10 animals subjected to induction of oestrus as in group III and inseminated twice at 24 hours interval and were given post insemination intrauterine antibiotic therapy based on sensitivity tests, 24 hours later.

The observations made and inferences drawn are given The interval from the administration of PGF₂ alpha below. to the onset of oestrus ranged from 48-120 hours (mean 61.81 hours) and 36 to 72 hours (mean 54.0 hours) in group III and IV, respectively. The mean duration of oestrus was 21.6 hours, 23.36 hours, 28.36 hours and 31.60 hours in the four The duration of oestrus groups respectively. showed significant variation between groups I and IV (t' = 28910) and between groups II and IV (t' = 2.6445). The percentage intense, medium and weak oestrus was 66.66, 23.80 of and 9.52 per cent respectively in natural oestrus and 66.66, 19.04 and 14.28 in induced oestrus respectively. The difference in the intensity of oestrus between natural and induced oestrus was not significantly different, although, a when slightly high incidence of weak oestrus was observed, oestrus was induced with Lutalyse. Physical changes of the reproductive tract like oedema of the vulva, congestion of vulval mucosa and sliminess did not show any variation between the natural oestrus and induced oestrus. The percentage of animals showing purulent discharge, discharge with flakes and cloudy discharge showed a marked reduction when treated with PGF, alpha alone and a combination of PGF, alpha and antibiotics. Similarly the percentage of animals showing clear discharge increased enormously by above

The bacterial organisms isolated from the treatments. uterine discharges were citrobacter spp. 23.84 per cent, Bacillus spp. 23.80 per cent, S. aureus 14.28 per cent, Pseudomonas 14.28 per cent, Corynebacterium spp. 9.52 per cent, Coagulase negative staphylococci, 9.52 per cent and the yeast Candida guilliermondii 4.76 per cent. Gentamicin was the most sensitive antibiotic for most of the organisms isolated, followed by chloramphenicol, oxytetracycline and sulphadiazine. Penicillin was the most resistant followed by streptomycin and nitrofurantoin. Significant difference in the overall conception rate was observed between different groups; the overall conception rate was significantly higher in group IV than in group I and ΙI (t' = 4.8341 between groups I & IV and t' = 2.9186between groups II & IV). Significantly higher conception rate was observed in group III than group I also (t' = 5.5886). The number of inseminations required per conception was lowest in group III and highest in group I.

Thus, it appeared that PGF₂ alpha in combination with antibiotic was beneficial in the treatment of clinical endometritis. But since the number of inseminations required for conception was lower in group III than group IV and because, there is no significant difference in the overall conception rate, between these two groups, it could be inferred that administration of antibiotics along with PGF_2 alpha did not have any added advantage. Furthermore, considering the harmful effects of administration of antibiotics, it may be stated that PGF_2 alpha alone would be beneficial in the treatment of post partum clinical endometritis and can be recommended as the drug of choice.